# Mechanisms of Ect2 Regulation in Cytokinesis and Oncogenesis

Danielle R. Cook

A dissertation submitted to the faculty of the University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the Eshelman School of Pharmacy Division of Chemical Biology and Medicinal Chemistry

Chapel Hill, NC 2013

Approved by

Channing J. Der PhD,

Michael B. Jarstfer PhD,

Mohanish Deshmukh PhD,

Lee M. Graves PhD,

Klaus M. Hahn PhD

© 2013 Danielle R. Cook ALL RIGHTS RESERVE

## Abstract

# DANIELLE R. COOK: Mechanisms of Ect2 Regulation in Cytokinesis and Oncogenesis (Under the direction of Channing Der)

Ect2 is a member of the human Dbl family of guanine nucleotide exchange factors and are activators of Rho family small GTPases (RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42). Ect2 was identified originally as an oncogene. However, the truncated and activated Ect2 variant identified was due to a DNA manipulation artifact and to date has not been found in human cancers. Ect2 has also been shown to be essential for mammalian cell cytokinesis in established cell culture models. My studies involve further evaluation of Ect2 in normal and neoplastic cell biology. First, to further evaluate a role for Ect2 in cytokinesis, we evaluated the consequences of an Ect2 deficiency in normal cells. Our studies showed that an Ect2 deficiency in primary mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) caused a defect in cytokinesis, migration, and altered cell morphology in vitro. In vivo loss of Ect2 in a mouse caused embryonic lethality. Thus, Ect2 is essential for normal development; a characteristic that has only been found in two other Dbl family RhoGEFs of 25 members evaluated. Second, in a gene array analysis of colorectal cancer (CRC), we identified ECT2 transcriptional overexpression and further analysis of oncomine database also confirmed the transcriptional overexpression of Ect but was not due gene amplification. We then found an

iii

increase in Ect2 protein expression in primary and metastatic CRC tumors and cell lines. Depletion of endogenous Ect2 by shRNA in CRC cell lines caused a reduction in anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion without a corresponding defect in cytokinesis. Analyses of Ect2 protein expression in a CRC tumor microarray (N=149) found Ect2 protein overexpression in tumor tissue, but surprisingly, the ratio of cytoplasmic to nuclear Ect2 correlated with improved patient survival. This finding contrasted with earlier studies that suggested that the mislocalization of the normally nuclear restricted Ect2 to the cytoplasm was important for Ect2 to function as an oncogene.

With this unexpected finding, I then utilizing my validated MEF and CRC cell line models to assess the structural and functional requirements for Ect2 support of normal cell cytokinesis and cancer cell growth. Ect2 is a large multidomain protein. In addition to tandem Dbl homology RhoGEF catalytic and pleckstrin homology regulatory domains found in all Dbl RhoGEFs (>70 human members), Ect2 contains N-terminal tandem BRCT domains not found in any other RhoGEFs and two nuclear localization sequences that promote Ect2 nuclear localization. Using missense mutants of full length Ect2 with impaired domain/motif function, I found that the BRCT domains are dispensable for Ect2-dependent CRC growth but necessary for normal cell cytokinesis. In contrast, disruption of the Ect2 nuclear localization sequences abolished the ability of Ect2 to support both normal cell cytokinesis and CRC tumor cell growth. The former observation was unexpected since there is no nuclear envelope during cytokinesis. The latter finding was also surprising, contrasting with previous

iv

findings in lung cancer, but consistent with our findings in CRC tumor tissue microarray. In particular, we found that the cytoplasmic localized, constitutively activated Ect2 that potently causes growth transformation of NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts was deleterious for CRC growth. In summary, my studies may resolve a paradox in the field, to explain why the originally truncated and activated Ect2 identified in mouse fibroblasts have not been found in human cancer.

# Dedication

I dedicate this work to my family for always supporting and loving me. My family gives me resolution to pursue my dreams and for that, I am forever grateful.

## Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Channing Der for taking me into his lab and believing in me. Dr. Der has been a wonderful mentor and I am grateful for ending up in a great research situation after changing labs after almost two years into graduate school. Not only has Dr. Der been a great and supportive mentor scientifically I also appreciate his friendship, a rare combination, that I will miss immensely. Although I will doubly move on in the next stage of my career look forward having Dr. Der as a friend and continued mentor.

I would like to acknowledge the current and past members of the Der Lab. I appreciate everyone's help and assistance though out the years and the memories I have made during my time in the lab. Specifically, I would like to thank Timothy Martin for all his assistance scientifically. Timothy continues to help me technically but also challenges me scientifically. I would also like to thank Dave Reiner for his continued support and perspective on science. I always enjoy his conversation and general scientific advice. I feel lucky to have a few outrageously geeky scientists around to share my passion and ideas with.

I want to thank the Eshelman School of Pharmacy and the division of Chemical Biology and Medicinal Chemistry for all of the support throughout the years. I especially thank Dr. Tropsha, Dr. Singleton, and Dr. Jarstfer for their support during my transition into a new lab. It was a very difficult time in my life

vii

and I feel lucky to have had a supportive division. Each of my committee members also played vital roles during my transition by meeting with me and giving me advice. Thank you Dr. Deshmukh, Dr. Hanh, Dr. Graves, and Dr. Jarstfer! I am forever grateful for everyone who helped me during that transition and I am happy to say that it all worked out for the best.

Finally, I would to thank my parents and my family for their continued support. I am lucky to have family that would help move me ~3,000 miles away from home; I really could not do any of this without them. Their unconditional love makes me the strong and determined person I am. Also, I would like to acknowledge another family member, Mateo, my dog who goes everywhere with me and provides me continued love and affection. My life would be very lonely without his companionship.

# Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	
DEDICATION	VI
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	VII
LIST OF TABLES	XI
LIST OF FIGURES	XII
ABBREVIATIONS	XIV
CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION	16
Superfamily of Ras GTPases	16
Rho GTPases	17
The discovery of RhoGEFs: diverse in numbers and structure	18
Ect2: Epithelial Cell Transforming Sequence 2	20
Ect2 in Cytokinesis	21
Ect2 Domain Structure	23
RhoGEFs and development	26
Ect2 in development	27
RhoGEFs and cancer	28
Ect2 in Cancer	30
Colorectal Cancer (CRC)	32
Specific Aims	33
CHAPTER 2 CHARACTERIZATION OF ECT2 IN DEVELOPMENT AND	

NORMAL CELL FUNCTION	34
----------------------	----

Overview	34
Introduction	35
Methods and Materials	39
Results	44
Discussion	56

# CHAPTER 3 ABERRANT ECT2 EXPRESSION AND SUBCELLULAR

LOCALIZATION IN COLORECTAL CANCER	61
Overview	61
Introduction	62
Methods and Materials	65
Results	72
Discussion	
CHAPTER 4 FINAL THOUGHTS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS	96
Overview	
Determining Nuclear Versus Cytosolic Ect2 Function	
Inhibitors of Ect2-mediated exchange	100
Mechanisms of Ect2-driven motility and invasion	103
Ect2 Mouse Model of Colorectal Cancer	
References	106

# List of Tables

Table 2-1. Genotypes of Weanlings and Embryos from   Ect2 -/+ Intercrosses	46
Table 2-2 Phenotypes and Genotype of Blastocyst   Outgrowth Derived from Ect2 intercrosses	48
Table 3-1 Associations between patient characteristics   and tertiles of ECT2 scores for nuclear expression	77
Table 3-2 Associations between patient characteristics   and tertiles of ECT2 scores for the ratio of cytosolic to nuclear expression	78

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1 Small GTPase16
Figure 1-2 Rho GTPase Signaling18
Figure 1-3 Dbl family RhoGEFs20
Figure 1-4 Discovery of Ect2 in NIH 3T321
Figure 1-5 Cytokinesis22
Figure 1-6 Ect2 multi-domain RhoGEF24
Figure 1-7 Ect2 C-terminus26
Figure 1-8 RhoGEF history29
Figure 1-9 Genetic model of colorectal cancer
Figure 2-1 Targeted disruption of the mouse Ect2 gene produces a null mutation45
Figure 2-2 <i>Ect2<sup>-/-</sup></i> blastocysts display abnormal growth <i>in vitro</i> 47
Figure 2-3 <i>Ect2</i> <sup>+/-</sup> mice exhibit normal development and survival49
Figure 2-5 Rho GTPases did not rescue the defect cytokinesis caused by loss of Ect2
Figure 3-1. Increased Ect2 RNA and protein expression in colorectal cancer74
Figure 3-2 Increased ratio of cytosolic to nuclear Ect2 correlates with overall survival79
Figure 3-3 Ect2 is required for CRC cell line anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion81

Figure 3-4 Nuclear Ect2 is required to support anchorage-independent growth	.83
Figure 3-5 Cytoplasmic Ect2 causes morphologic and growth transformation of NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts.	.84
Figure 3-6 Nuclear localization is essential for Ect2 to support normal cell cytokinesis in mouse embryo fibroblasts	.89

# Abbreviations

- APC- Adenomatous polyposis coli or Anaphase promoting complex
- BCS- Bovine calf serum
- BRCA- Breast-cancer associated protein
- BRCT- BRCA1 C-terminal
- BSA-Bovine serum albumin
- CRC- Colorectal Cancer
- D-box-Destruction box (found in most APC substrates)
- Dbl- Diffuse B-cell lymphoma
- DH- <u>D</u>bl <u>h</u>omology
- DMEM- Dulbecco's modified eagle's medium
- DMSO- Dimethyl sulfoxide
- DNA- Deoxyribonucleic acid
- DOCK- Dedicator of cytokinesis
- Ect2- Epithelial cell transforming sequence 2
- FBS- Fetal bovine serum
- FL- <u>F</u>ull-<u>l</u>ength
- FRET- <u>Fluorescent or Förster resonance energy transfer</u>
- GAP-<u>G</u>TPase <u>activating proteins</u>
- GDI- Guanine nucleotide-dissociation inhibitors

- GDP-<u>G</u>uanine <u>d</u>i-<u>p</u>hosphate
- GEF-Guanine exchange factors
- GFP- Green fluorescent protein
- GTP-<u>Guanine tri-phosphate</u>
- GTPases- Guanosine triphosphatases
- HA-<u>H</u>em<u>agg</u>lutinin
- KDa- Kilodalton
- MEF- Mouse embryonic fibroblasts
- MTT- 3-[4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl]-2,5-diphenyltetrazolium bromide
- NLS- Nuclear localization sequence
- OD- Optical density
- PBS- Phosphate buffered saline
- PH- Pleckstrin homology
- Ras- Rat Sarcoma
- Rho- Ras-homologous
- RNA- <u>Ribonucleic</u> acid
- RNAi- RNA interference
- SDS- Sodium dodecyl sulfate
- shRNA- Short hairpin RNA
- TBST-Tris buffered saline with tween 20
- WT- Wild type

# **Chapter 1 Introduction**

## Superfamily of Ras GTPases

The RAS gene was originally identified in two different cancer causing virus originally discovered in rat, hence the name Ras (<u>rat sarcoma</u>) [1] and is the founding member of the Ras Superfamily of small GTPases containing over 150 members [2, 3]. Members of this superfamily are divided into five major branches based on sequence and functional similarities: Ras, Rho, Rab, Ran, and Arf. (Figure 1-1) However, variations in structure, post-translational modifications, subcellular locations, and effectors proteins allow GTPases to function as modulators of complex and diverse range of cellular processes [4].



Human Rho GTPase family



#### Figure 1-1 Small GTPase

Left panel: Ras Superfamily Right panel: Human Rho GTPases (20 members; RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 are characterized the best)

# **Rho GTPases**

Rho family proteins (20 human members) comprise a major branch of the Ras superfamily of small GTPases, with RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 the most extensively studied and characterized. (Figure 1-1) Rho GTPases specifically regulate actin organization, cell motility, polarity, growth, survival and gene transcription [5]. Rho GTPases are binary switches that cycle between an active GTP-bound and an inactive GDP-bound state [6]. Rho-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs) accelerate the intrinsic exchange activity of Rho GTPases to stimulate formation of Rho-GTP. Rho-specific GTPase activating proteins (RhoGAPs) stimulate the intrinsic hydrolysis activity of Rho GTPases, resulting in the inactive GDP-bound state [7]. Rho-specific guanine nucleotide-dissociation inhibitors (GDIs) comprise a third class of regulatory proteins. RhoGDIs bind Rho GTPases in a GDP bound state and also extract and sequester Rho GTPases from the cell membrane where Rho GTPases can be activated [8]. (Figure 1-2)



#### Figure 1-2 Rho GTPase Signaling [9]

#### The discovery of RhoGEFs: diverse in numbers and structure

The first RhoGEF was identified initially as an oncogene in mammalian cells. Using the NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblast focus formation assay that led to the discovery of mutant Ras in human cancer, analysis of genomic DNA isolated from a human diffuse <u>B</u>-cell lymphoma resulted in the discovery of the *DBL* oncogene that encoded an N-terminally truncated protein [10]. Dbl was subsequently shown to catalyze the exchange activity of Cdc42 [11]. Additional NIH 3T3 focus formation and related assays identified Dbl-related proteins, in particular Vav and Ect2. That RhoGEFs were discovered initially as oncoproteins provided the first suggestion that Rho GTPases may also have a function in oncogenesis.

Dbl and the Dbl-related proteins all share a ~200 amino acid catalytic Dbl homology (DH; also called RhoGEF) and an immediately adjacent regulatory ~100 amino acid pleckstrin homology (PH) domain [12]. Additional RhoGEFs with this tandem DH-PH domain structure were identified by genetic and biochemical approaches and by in silico database searches. There are 72 human Dbl family RhoGEFs, with conserved orthologs found in all vertebrate species and in invertebrates, including Drosophila, C. elegans, S. cerevisiae and S. pombe. Beyond their shared DH-PH domains, Dbl RhoGEFs diverge significantly in their flanking N- and C-terminal sequences, which commonly contain a diversity protein-protein interaction domains and motifs involved in regulating intrinsic RhoGEF catalytic activity, determining subcellular localization or facilitating complex formation with other proteins. (Figure 1-3)

Humans also possess a second structurally distinct but biochemically similar class of RhoGEFs, the dedicator of cytokinesis or DOCK family (11 human members) [13]. DOCK RhoGEFs are characterized by conserved Dockhomology region-2 (DHR2) catalytic domain with no sequence homology to DH domains. Although plant species possess Rho-like GTPases (Rho of plants; Rop) [14], and are regulated by RhoGAPs homologous to mammalian RhoGAPs [15], they lack either Dbl or DOCK RhoGEFs and instead RopGEFs possess a structurally distinct plant-specific Rop nucleotide exchanger (PRONE) catalytic domain [16]. Finally, although there are no Rho orthologs in prokaryotes, pathogenic bacteria possess effector proteins that regulate the function of their

mammalian host Rho GTPases, in particular, proteins that mimic the function of mammalian RhoGEFs [17, 18].





# Ect2: Epithelial Cell Transforming Sequence 2

In 1993, human Ect2 was originally discovered as an oncogene that transformed NIH 3T3 cells [19]. However, the Ect2 protein found to transform fibroblast was a truncated version of the full-length protein that is not found in nature. (Figure 1-4) The best-characterized function of Ect2 is for its role in normal cell cytokinesis, however there are studies supporting a non cell-cycle function in cancer.



#### Figure 1-4 Discovery of Ect2 in NIH 3T3

The transforming Ect2 was truncated and constitutively activated protein not found in nature or cancer [19]

# Ect2 in Cytokinesis

Cytokinesis is the physical division of one cell into two and is the final step in mitosis or meiosis, a cell division process that is tightly regulated by many proteins and is essential in proliferation or development respectively. (Figure 1-5) Cytokinesis requires coordinated actions of the cytoskeleton, membrane systems, and other cell cycle machinery, which are precisely controlled spatially and temporally. During late anaphase the actomyosin ring is formed and then starts to ingresses during telophase giving rise to the cleavage furrow and by late telophase the cleavage furrow is fully ingressed forming an intracellular bridge, called the midbody [20]. SNARE-dependent membrane fusion steps promote the abscission event needed complete cytokinesis [21]. Cytoskeleton to rearrangements are required during the formation of the actomyosin ring and then ingression until abscission is complete is dependent on Rho GTPase localization and activity [22-26].



#### Figure 1-5 Cytokinesis[20, 21, 23]

Before the human Ect2 was characterized, mutations in Pebble (PbI), the Drosophila ortholog of Ect2, caused a block in cytokinesis [27, 28]. After Ect2 was discovered, functional studies of PbI in Drosophila established a critical role in cytokinesis. At the onset of cytokinesis, PbI is associated with the cleavage furrow where it activates Rho1 to initiate assembly of the contractile ring and promote cytokinesis [29]. Similarly, Let-21 the C. elegans ortholog of Ect2 is required for formation of the cleavage furrow [30]. Further evidence of Ect2 function in cytokinesis was demonstrated by the interference of mammalian Ect2 function through the expression of a dominant negative ECT2 allele, microinjection of an Ect2 antibody, or Ect2 RNAi-mediated knockdown all lead to accumulation of multinucleated cells indicative of a failure to undergo cytokinesis [31, 32]. Furthermore, studies have shown that the role of Ect2 in cytokinesis is to activate RhoA signaling pathways as well as recruit other proteins such as

RacGAP1; knockdown of either RhoA or RacGAP lead to multinucleation [23, 33, 34].

#### Ect2 Domain Structure

Ect2 is multi-domain protein with unique features not found in other RhoGEFs. (Figure 1-6) For example, the N-terminus of Ect2 contains a pair of tandem BRCA1 C-terminal (BRCT) repeats. BRCT domains are found in a large superfamily of ~40 onorthologous proteins that have functions in cell cycle checkpoints and/or in the DNA damage response [35]. BRCT domains can promote heterodimerization with other BRCT-containing proteins or recognize phosphorylated peptides. There is evidence suggesting that the second but not the first BRCT domain of Ect2 may function as auto-inhibitor of the DH domain [31, 36]. These data support a model where protein binding or modification of Ect2 relieves BRCT auto-inhibition, leading to reversible activation of Ect2 RhoGEF function. There is evidence that BRCT domains found in tandem can cooperate to provide sequence-specific binding of phosphorylated peptides [37]. For example, the tandem BRCTs domains have a positive role to promote Ect2 localization to the midbody during cytokinesis: the BRCT domains bind to Plk1phosphorylated MgcRacGAP31 (RacGAP1), a protein that, like Ect2, is both located to the midbody during cytokinesis and required for its successful completion [26].

Another rare feature of Ect2 is that it contains two nuclear localization sequences (NLS) and is located in the cell's nucleus during interphase. Net1 is the only other RhoGEF found in the nucleus and was found recently that Net1 is

dispensable for mouse development (Jeffrey Frost, personal communication). The N-terminal truncated forms of Ect2 lacking the NLS motifs are able to transform NIH 3T3 as well as full-length Ect2 containing missense mutation that abolish NLS function, suggesting that mislocalization to the cytoplasm is important for Ect2 to drive growth transformation. Furthermore, cytoplasmic Ect2 has been linked to Rac1 activation and cellular transformation [38].



#### Figure 1-6 Ect2 multi-domain RhoGEF

The C-terminus of Ect2 comprises the DH-PH domains contained in all Dbl family RhoGEFs. While it is known that the DH domain is required for GEF activity the function of the PH domain remains to be investigated [12]. Furthermore, the there remains considerable confusion regarding which Rho GTPases are targets of Ect2 and whether distinct Rho GTPases facilitate Ect2 control of cytokinesis versus growth transformation. Most studies have attributed Ect2 regulation of cytokinesis to its activation of RhoA [23, 24, 39-42], whereas transformation of lung tumor cells by full length (FL) Ect2 has been linked to Rac1 activation [38]. However, for transformation of NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblast cells, all three Rho GTPases were necessary for transformation by an Nterminally truncated Ect2 ( $\Delta$ N-Ect2) [36, 43]. Usually RhoGEF substrate specificity is dictated solely by the DH domain [12], however the GTPase specificity of Vav, was influenced by its flanking sequences [44]. However, for Ect2 it is unknown if the DH domain alone or flanking sequences determine GTPases specificity.

Following the tandem DH-PH domains, the C-terminus is composed of highly conserved sequence of approximately 363 amino acids that lacks any known domains or motifs. (Figure 1-7) However, this C-terminal sequence of Ect2 was found to be required for ΔN-Ect2 to cause growth transformation of NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts and was shown to alter the Rho GTPases activated in vivo [43]. Recently, TEK- and D-box (destruction box) domains have been described in the C-terminus and shown to be necessary for full length Ect2 degradation following mitosis by an ubiquitin ligase, APC/Cdh1 (anaphase promoting complex) [45, 46]. Destruction box (D-box) is a conserved motif, RXXL, found in a majority of APC substrates [47], while a TEK-box motif is found in ubiquitin and several human APC substrates; it was identified to play a role in substrate binding and poly-ubiquitination [48].





#### RhoGEFs and development

The combined number of human Dbl and DOCK RhoGEFs greatly exceed the number of Rho GTPases, suggesting apparent redundancy in RhoGEF function. This is particularly striking for RhoA, where at least 25 Dbl RhoGEFs can activate this single GTPase. With six of 20 human Rho GTPases constitutively active and not believed to be regulated by RhoGEFs [49], the apparent redundancy in RhoGEFs is even more significant.

One approach to evaluate the apparent redundancy of RhoGEFs has been the generation of mice deficient in one or more RhoGEFs, which additionally addresses their involvement in development. The role of at least 24 Dbl family RhoGEFs in mouse development have been evaluated, with only four (Sos1, Trio, AKAP13 and Ect2) found to be essential for mouse development [50-53]. However, since these proteins possess other functions independent of their RhoGEF functions, it is not clear that the embryonic lethality seen is due to the loss of the RhoGEF function. Sos1 and Trio both have non-RhoGEF catalytic activities: Sos1 is also a RasGEF and Trio contains two distinct DH-PH RhoGEF domains and a serine/threonine kinase domain. AKAP13 is a scaffolding protein with additional activities that include association with the regulatory subunit of protein kinase A to spatially regulate protein kinase A substrate utilization, protein kinase C and D isoforms, and interaction with heterotrimeric G alpha subunits. In contrast Ect2 has no other known catalytic function aside from its RhoGEF activity suggesting that Ect2 is an essential RhoGEF among a highly redundant family of proteins. In my studies, I determined that the requirement for Ect2 in development is likely due to its critical role in cytokinesis [53].

#### Ect2 in development

Recently we showed that *Ect2*-deficient mice are not viable [53]. Whereas heterozygous  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice showed normal development and lifespan, no  $Ect2^{-/-}$  embryos were found at birth or as early as embryonic day 8.5, suggesting a requirement for Ect2 for either preimplantation or early postimplantation development. We further characterized the defect in vitro with isolated blastocysts at E3.5 and identified homozygous  $Ect2^{-/-}$  blastocysts displayed abnormal outgrowth, indicating that Ect2 is required for peri-implantation development.

The best-characterized normal function of Ect2 is its role in cytokinesis. Even though there are at least 25 other RhoGEFs that can active RhoA, Ect2 has been shown to regulate RhoA during cytokinesis, the final step in meiosis and mitosis. Therefore, it is likely that Ect2 is required for development because of its key role in cell division. Consistent with this hypothesis, a deficiency in MgcRacGAP (RacGAP1), which facilitates Ect2 localization during cell division,

also produces a similar embryonic lethality phenotype [54].

## **RhoGEFs and cancer**

The three Ras proteins are the founding members of the Ras superfamily of small GTPases and they comprise the most commonly mutated oncoproteins in cancer. However, with the exception of the recently described mutational activation of Rac1 in melanoma [55, 56], Rho (Ras homologs) GTPases are not frequently mutated in human cancer. Nevertheless, there is substantial experimental evidence that aberrant Rho GTPase function can contribute to cancer cell proliferation, invasion and metastasis [57]. Rather than direct mutational activation, Rho GTPases are instead activated by indirect mechanisms in cancer. These mechanisms include altered location by GDIs, increased RhoGEF and/or decreased RhoGAP activity, and altered gene expression of Rho GTPases, RhoGEFs, RhoGAPs, and RhoGDI expression. Other mechanisms include alternative gene splicing such as Rac1b [58].

Although Dbl and other RhoGEFs identified as oncoproteins were found to be activated by deletion of sequences, most commonly by deletion of sequences N-terminal to the DH domain, these altered and constitutively





activated RhoGEFs were not present in the original tumor DNA and instead arose artifactually during the DNA isolation/transfection procedure [59]. Similarly, other DbI RhoGEFs identified as oncogenes also possessed rearranged sequences, most commonly N-terminal deletion of sequences upstream of the DH domain, which arose during in vitro DNA manipulation/or the transfection process. Surprisingly, despite their potent transforming activities when assayed in NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts, such activated DbI RhoGEFs have not been identified in cancers. Instead, mechanisms that lead to the deregulated expression and/or activation of full length RhoGEFs have been identified. In this section, we summarize the findings with the DbI RhoGEFs with the strongest evidence for their involvement in cancer growth. (Figure 1-8)

#### Ect2 in Cancer

Ect2 gene and/or protein overexpression has been described in glioblastoma [60-62], non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) [38], lung and esophageal [63], pancreatic [44] and oral cancer [64].

The *ECT2* gene is located in a region of the chromosome 3q26 which is a region that is frequently altered in human tumors [65]. It was found that Ect2 overexpression was cause by gene amplification in non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) and this also correlated with copy number of the PKCI gene (PRKCI) [38]. Regulation of tumor growth and invasion of non-small cell lung cancer was through mislocalization of Ect2 to the cytoplasm where it could bind to PKCi-Par6 to activate Rac1 [38]. Interestingly, the role of Ect2 in NSCLC was independent of Ect2 normal function in cytokinesis. Depletion of Ect2 expression in NSCLC

did not result in any proliferation or multi-nucleation defects that are associated with Ect2 loss in normal cells [53]. Furthermore, this study was the first description of a mislocalization and activation of Rac1 mechanism mediated by Ect2. In my studies, I have addressed a role for altered mislocalization of Ect2 to the cytoplasm in driving CRC growth.

Another study showed that Ect2 expression correlated with poor prognosis of glioma patients and that in vitro Ect2 was important for proliferation, migration, and invasion of giloma cells [61]. However, the depletion of Ect2 expression in giloma tumor cell lines showed an increase in multinucleation, characteristic of a defect in cytokinesis. Therefore, the decrease in proliferation, migration and invasion could be cause by the inability for cells to complete mitosis. Another study found that Ect2 was overexpressed in glioblastoma and showed that Ect2 was required to mediate the invasive behavior in glioblastoma in vitro by siRNA knockdown [62].

To search for novel biomarkers that may be improved diagnosis, prognosis, and therapeutic intervention of CRC, a recent meta-analysis of publicly available data from GenBank identified *ECT2* as one of nines gene significantly elevated levels in CRC tissues compared to normal tissues [66]. However, whether Ect2 protein expression is elevated and is a driver for CRC growth was not determined. Independently, our microarray gene expression studies identified *ECT2* overexpression in CRC. CRC is the number two cause of cancer deaths for men and women in the US, with 50,830 deaths expected in 2013 [67] Hence, there remains a dire need for new therapies for this deadly

cancer. In my dissertation research, I have evaluated the role of Ect2 in normal and neoplastic growth, with a focus on the role and mechanism by which aberrant Ect2 expression may drive CRC growth.

## Colorectal Cancer (CRC)

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is a major cause of cancer morbidity and mortality, with ~150,000 U.S. residents diagnosed annually with CRC, and approximately one-third of CRC patients die from the disease [67]. The lifetime risk of CRC (from 2005-2009) in the United States is ~5%, and the average age at diagnosis is 69 years [68]. Risk factors for CRC development include, age, diet, and inherited and/or somatic mutations [69].

The prevailing model for CRC tumorigenesis based on the accumulation of genetic mutations, each defining a different step in the adenoma–carcinoma sequence [70](Figure 1-9). In this sequence, the first hit that associated with adenomatous polyps is mutation and/or loss of the *APC* gene. *K-ras* mutations are found in ~50% of colorectal cancers and are thought to be relatively early events that correlate histologically with early to late adenomas. There is evidence to suggest that *TP53* (p53) mutations occur more frequently in high-grade dysplastic polyps; these mutations are associated the transition from adenoma to carcinoma [71]. Further mutations in *TGF-βIIR, SMAD4, BAX,* and/or mutations in mismatch repair genes (*e.g. hMLH1, hMSH2*) have all been identified factors in the development and progression of CRC [70, 72].



Figure 1-9 Genetic model of colorectal cancer Colorectal cancer progresses through accumulation of genetic mutations [70, 73].

## Specific Aims

Based on the importance of Rho GTPases activity in cellular behavior; I sought to determine Ect2 specific effect in normal and tumor biology. I used structural and functional full-length Ect2 mutants to determine critical Ect2 elements required for cytokinesis and oncogene.

The next two chapters of my dissertation address my original three aims. Aim I, determine the role of Ect2 overexpression in the invasive and metastatic growth properties of colorectal cancer. (Chapter 3) Aim II, determine the structural and functional requirements of Ect2 activity in normal cell cytokinesis. (Chapter 2 & 3) Aim III, determine the structural and functional requirements of Ect2 that confer an oncogenic phenotype. (Chapter 3) I conclude my dissertations with final thoughts on my studies and future directions. (Chapter 4)

# Chapter 2 Characterization of Ect2 in development and normal cell function<sup>1</sup>

## Overview

Ect2 is a member of the human Dbl family of guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs) that serve as activators of Rho family small GTPases. Although Ect2 is one of at least 25 RhoGEFs that can activate the RhoA small GTPase, cell culture studies using established cell lines determined that Ect2 is essential for mammalian cell cytokinesis and proliferation. To address the function of Ect2 in normal mammalian development, we performed gene targeting to generate *Ect2* knockout mice. The heterozygous *Ect2*<sup>+/-</sup> mice showed normal development and lifespan, indicating that Ect2 haplodeficiency was not deleterious for development or growth. In contrast, Ect2<sup>-/-</sup> embryos were not found at birth or post-implantation stages. *Ect2<sup>-/-</sup>* blastocysts were recovered at embryonic day 3.5 but did not give rise to viable outgrowths in culture, indicating that Ect2 is required for peri-implantation development. To further assess the importance of Ect2 in normal cell physiology, we isolated primary fibroblasts from Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> embryos (MEFs) and ablated Ect2 using adenoviral delivery of Cre recombinase. We observed a significant increase in multinucleated cells and accumulation of cells in G2/M phase, consistent with a role for Ect2 in

<sup>1</sup> Chapter adapted from published paper: "The ect2 rho Guanine nucleotide exchange factor is essential for early mouse development and normal cell cytokinesis and migration" Cook, D. R., Solski, P. A., Bultman, S. J., Kauselmann, G., Schoor, M., Kuehn, R., Friedman, L. S., Cowley, D. O., Van Dyke, T., Yeh, J. J., Johnson, L., Der, C. J. *Genes and Cancer*, 2011

cytokinesis. *Ect2* deficiency also caused enlargement of the cytoplasm and impaired cell migration. Finally, although Ect2-dependent activation of RhoA has been implicated in cytokinesis, Ect2 can also activate Rac1 and Cdc42 to cause growth transformation. Surprisingly, ectopic expression of constitutively activated RhoA, Rac1, or Cdc42, known substrates of Ect2, failed to phenocopy Ect2 and did not rescue the defect in cytokinesis cause by loss of *Ect2*. In summary, our results establish the unique role of *Ect2* in development and normal cell proliferation.

#### Introduction

Rho family small GTPases are regulators of diverse cellular processes that include cell proliferation and survival, actin organization and cell shape, polarity and movement, and endocytosis and exocytosis [6, 49]. There are 20 human Rho GTPases, with RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 the best-characterized members. Rho GTPases function as GDP-GTP regulated binary switches that are activated in response to extracellular stimuli. Activated Rho GTPases in turn associate with effectors that then stimulate cytoplasmic signaling networks [74]. Rho-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs) promote GDP-GTP exchange and formation of active Rho-GTP [12], whereas Rho-specific GTPase activating proteins (RhoGAPs) accelerate hydrolysis of the bound GTP to stimulate formation of inactive Rho-GDP [75].

There are 83 human RhoGEFs, with Dbl family RhoGEFs comprising the largest group (69 members) [9, 12]. Dbl family RhoGEFs are characterized by a conserved Dbl homology (DH) catalytic domain and an adjacent C-terminal

pleckstrin homology (PH) regulatory domain. The DH domain may be highly or broadly specific for a subset of Rho GTPases. For example, Tiam1 is a specific activator of Rac, Asef is specific for Cdc42, whereas Vav is broadly active and can activate RhoA, Rac, Cdc42 and RhoG.

The significantly greater number of RhoGEFs relative to their GTPase substrates suggests highly redundant mechanisms for Rho GTPase activation. This apparent redundancy in activators is particularly striking for RhoA, where there are at least 25 Dbl RhoGEFs that can activate this Rho GTPase [12]. However, the multiple RhoGEFs for one Rho GTPase provides mechanisms where a specific Rho GTPase can be activated by divergent signals, leading to distinct spatio-temporal patterns of activation and signaling. This divergence in RhoGEF regulation and function is reflected by the otherwise highly divergent sequences that flank the DH-PH domains [74]. RhoGEFs are generally large proteins (>1000 amino acids), and often contain several domains involved in their localization, association with other proteins, regulation of GEF catalytic activity and Rho GTPase effector selectivity. For example, among all human RhoGEFs, only Ect2 contains tandem BRCT (BRCA1 C-terminal) domains that are normally found in proteins (e.g., BRCA1, TP53BP1) involved in DNA damage signaling, repair and coordination of cell cycle checkpoints [37, 76]. The BRCT domains may serve to regulate the RhoGEF catalytic activity and additionally can interact with phosphorylated proteins that dictate Ect2 subcellular localization [31, 77, 78].
Ect2 is also only one of two Dbl family RhoGEFs, aside from Net1 [79], that exhibits a nuclear localization in interphase cells [32]. Since Rho GTPases are membrane-associated and/or cytoplasmic, it has been proposed that this nuclear localization is an inactive repository for Ect2, since disruption of nuclear localization activates Ect2 transforming activity [36]. However, a recent study found that nuclear Ect2 maybe active [80], and thus, whether nuclear Ect2 has a function during interphase and distinct from cytokinesis remains unresolved. The best-known function of Ect2 involves its requirement for cytokinesis in vitro [65, 81]. In early mitosis (prometaphase) when the nuclear envelope is dissolved, Ect2 is released into the cytoplasm. As cells enter anaphase, Ect2 is recruited to the central spindle by the central spindlin protein complex comprised of Cyk4/MgcRacGAP and MKLP1/CHO1. The central spindle facilitates contractile ring formation, leading to cleavage furrow ingression and midbody formation. Ect2 is recruited to the midbody where Ect2 then activates RhoA to facilitate midbody abscission and completion of cytokinesis. Ectopic expression of a noncatalytic fragment of Ect2 that includes the BRCT domains caused inhibition of U-2 OS human osteosarcoma [32] or adenovirus-transformed HEK 293T human kidney neuronal-like [82] to complete cytokinesis, resulting in the accumulation of multinucleated cells. Similarly, microinjection of anti-Ect2 antibody into HeLa human cervical carcinoma cells also inhibited cytokinesis [32]. Subsequent studies using transient RNA interference suppression of Ect2 expression in HEK 293T [82] or HeLa [31, 83] cells also demonstrated a

requirement for Ect2 in cytokinesis *in vitro*. No assessment of mammalian Ect2 function in normal cells *in vitro* or *in vivo* has been described.

Although Ect2 was identified originally as an activated oncoprotein that was activated by truncation and loss of N-terminal sequences that include the BRCT domains and nuclear localization signals [19], no such truncated proteins have been detected in human cancers. Instead, recent studies have identified aberrant overexpression and mislocalization of full length Ect2 to the cytoplasm in glioblastoma and lung cancer tumor tissue and cell lines [38, 60, 62]. These studies used RNA interference to suppress Ect2 expression, which caused impaired lung tumor cell anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion in vitro and reduced tumorigenic growth in vivo. Interestingly, in lung tumor cells, Ect2 suppression did not impair cytokinesis, indicating that Ect2 function in oncogenesis is distinct from that in cytokinesis [38]. Further support for this possibility was provided by the observation that constitutively activated Rac1 could rescue the loss of endogenous Ect2 and restore lung tumor cell growth [38]. This finding contrasts with previous studies that found that RhoA is the substrate critical for Ect2-dependent cytokinesis [65, 81].

Previous studies of mammalian Ect2 function have been done in established cell line studies *in vitro*. To evaluate the function of Ect2 *in vivo*, in normal cells and in the context of heterogeneous tissue, we generated both floxed (conditional) and  $\Delta$ floxed (constitutive) knockout mice to assess the consequences of Ect2 loss in development and normal cell proliferation. Constitutive loss of *Ect2* causes embryonic lethality, with defective growth at the

late blastocyst stage. Utilizing mouse embryo fibroblasts derived from *Ect2*<sup>*fl*/*fl*</sup> conditional mice, we determined that loss of *Ect2* completely impaired cell proliferation and migration *in vitro*, causing accumulation of cells in G2/M phase and formation of enlarged multi-nucleated cells. Surprisingly, expression of activated Rho GTPases failed to rescue the loss of Ect2 to restore cell proliferation or migration. Our observations provide further evidence for the highly unique function of this RhoGEF in normal cell physiology.

#### Methods and Materials

**Vector construction**: The targeting vector was based on a 5.3 kb genomic fragment from the *ect2* gene encompassing exons 8 to 12 and surrounding sequences. This fragment, obtained from the C57BI/6J RP23 BAC library, was modified by inserting the distal loxP site into intron 8 and the proximal loxP site including an FRT-flanked neomycin resistance gene into intron 7. A thymidine kinase (TK) cassette was inserted at the 3' end of the genomic fragment.

**Embryonic stem (ES) cell culture**: The quality tested C57BL/6NTac ES cell line was grown on a mitotically inactivated feeder layer comprised of MEFs in Dulbecco's modified eagle (DMEM) high glucose medium supplemented with 20% fetal bovine serum (FBS; PAN Biotech GmbH) and 1200 U/ml leukemia inhibitory factor (Millipore; ESG 1107). One x  $10^7$  ES cells and 30 µg of linearized DNA targeting vector were electroporated (Biorad Gene Pulser) at 240 V and 500 µF. Positive selection with G418 (200 µg/ml) started on day two and counterselection with gancyclovir (2 µM) started on day five after electroporation.

Resistant ES cell colonies with a distinct morphology were isolated on day eight after transfection and expanded in 96 well plates. Correctly recombined ES cell clones were identified by Southern blot analysis using external and internal probes and were frozen in liquid nitrogen.

Generation of mice: The animal study protocol was approved according to the German Animal Welfare Act (§ 8 (1) TierSchG) by the local authority. Mice were kept in the animal facility at TaconicArtemis GmbH in microisolator cages (Techniplast Sealsave). Feed and water were available ad libitum. Light cycles were on a 12:12 h light dark cycle with the light phasing starting at 06:00 h. Temperature and relative humidity were maintained between 21 to 23°C and 45 to 65%, respectively. After administration of hormones, superovulated BALB/c females were mated with BALB/c males. Blastocysts were isolated from the uterus at dpc 3.5. For microinjection, blastocysts were placed in a drop of DMEM supplemented with 15% FBS under mineral oil. A flat tip, piezo actuated microinjection-pipette with an internal diameter of 12 - 15 µm was used to inject 10 to15 targeted C57BL/6NTac ES cells into each blastocyst. After recovery, eight injected blastocysts were transferred to each uterine horn of 2.5 days post coitum, pseudopregnant NMRI females. Chimerism was measured in chimeras (G0) by coat color contribution of ES cells to the BALB/c host (black/white). Highly chimeric mice were bred to i) C57BL/6-Tg(CAG-Flpe)2Arte females mutant for the presence of the Flp recombinase gene or to ii) C57BL/6-Gt(ROSA)26Sor<sup>tm16(Cre)Arte</sup> females mutant for the presence of the Cre recombinase gene. This allowed detection of germline transmission by the

presence of black, strain C57BL/6, offspring (G1) and creation of i) selection marker deleted conditional (floxed) knockout mice or ii) constitutive knockout mice by Flp- or Cre-mediated removal, in one breeding step. Chimeras bred to iii) C57BL/6 wild-type mice resulted in germline offspring with selection marker in the Ect2 genomic locus described as targeted mice.

Genotyping of mice by PCR: Genomic DNA was extracted from 1 to 2 mm long tail tips using the NucleoSpin Tissue kit (Macherey-Nagel). Genomic DNA (2 µl) was analyzed by PCR protocol 1 in a final volume of 50 µl in the presence of 2.0 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 200 µM dNTPs, 100 nM of each primer, and 2 U Tag DNA polymerase (Invitrogen) with the following primers: 1 = (5'-GCACTCCAATTATGAAGCCAGAATGG-3'), 2 (5'-CAATATGTTGGGTAGAGAGATGGC-3') and 3 (5'-= TCCTCCGGGTGGACCAGAG-3') detecting the presence of the wild-type allele (335 bp), targeted (413 bp), the conditional allele (413 bp) and the constitutive allele (498 bp). Following a denaturing step at 95°C for 5 min, 35 cycles of PCR were performed, each consisting of a denaturing step at 95°C for 30 s, followed by an annealing phase at 60°C for 30 s and an elongation step at 72°C for 1 min. PCR was finished by a 10 min extension step at 72°C. Amplified products were analyzed using 2% standard TAE agarose gels. A second PCR protocol for Ect<sup>fl/fl</sup> genotyping the mice used primers: 3 (5'two = TCTGATCCACGTGATCATAG-3'), and 4 = (5'-CTGGCTT CATAATTGGAGTGC-3'). A 420 bp wild-type fragment or a 520 bp mutant fragment was amplified with these two primers. For genotyping the blastocysts, a nested PCR protocol was

used. The outgrowths were scraped from the well with a micropipette tip and transferred to a PCR tube. The tubes were spun down and the supernatant was removed. The cells were resuspended in 5 µl of 400ng/µl Proteinase K/17 µM SDS and overlayed with mineral oil. The tubes were incubated for 1 h at 50°C, and then denatured at 99°C for 30 min. For the first PCR reaction, 45 µl of a PCR mix containing 25 of primers (5'pmol external CCCTCCAGGTTGAGAACTGCTACTAAG-3' 5'and GCAGGCTGAGAGCAAGCCAGGAGA-3'). After amplification, 1 µl of this first PCR reaction was used for a second round of PCR reactions, which used PCR protocol 1 as described above.

**Blastocyst outgrowth analyses**: Timed breedings of *ect2* <sup>+/-</sup> breeding pairs were set up and at E3.5, blastocysts were flushed from the uterine tract from the females. Blastocysts were placed in 20  $\mu$ l of ES cell medium (DMEM, 15% FCS, 0.01%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol) in Nunc dish microwells (Nalgene,Palo Alto, CA) and grown under mineral oil in 5% CO<sup>2</sup> incubator at 37°C. After seven days, the cultures were evaluated and scored for degree of outgrowth, photographed, and then genotyped by PCR.

**Mouse embryonic fibroblasts cultures**: *Ect2*<sup>*fl*/*fl*</sup> mice were crossed and at E15.5 days embryos were isolated from the female. Embryos were rinsed with PBS, and the head and dark red organs were removed from the culture. The tissue was minced and resuspended in a solution of PBS/trypsin/EDTA and incubated with gentle shaking at 37°C for 30 min. The cell/tissue solution was gently centrifuged and the supernatant was removed and the loose pellet was

resuspended in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS. This solution was then filtered through a cell filter and then plated onto 150 mm tissue culture plates and grown in a 5%  $CO^2$  incubator at 37°C. After 18 h, the medium was changed to fresh growth medium. MEFs were immortalized by trypsinizing the cells every three days at replating on a 100 mm tissue culture plate at a density for 1 X 10<sup>3</sup> cells/ dish. For knocking out Ect2 expression in the *Ect*<sup>#/#</sup> MEFs, cells were infected with recombinant adenovirus expressing Cre recombinase (Ad-Cre) with a green fluorescent protein expressing control adenovirus (Ad-GFP) used to assess Cre-specific activities (Gene Transfer Vector Core, University of Iowa).

**Constructs**: An expression vector for human Ect2 was generated using a human Ect2 cDNA sequence from an expression vector kindly provided by Dr. A. P. Fields (Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN), which was subcloned into the FUGW lentiviral expression vector [84], a gift from Dr. Bryan Roth (University of North Carolina at Chapel Hill, Chapel Hill, NC). Mammalian expression vectors of wild-type human Rho GTPases [RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42] were constructed by ligation of cDNA sequences into a pBabe-puro retrovirus expression vector [85]that introduces an N-terminal HA epitope tag. The constitutively active [RhoA(Q63L), Rac1(Q61L) and Cdc42(Q61L)] and fast-cycling Rho GTPases mutants [RhoA(F30L), Rac1(F28L) and Cdc42(F28L)] were created using QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene).

Western blot: To evaluate protein expression, four days after Cre infection, the MEFs were lysed, and analyzed by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electorphoresis and western blot analysis, with anti-Ect2 antibody (Santa Cruz

Biotechnology), anti-HA (Covance) and anti-β-actin (Sigma) as a loading control. Additionally, we utilized a second Ect2 polyclonal antibody generated against KLH-conjugated linear peptide corresponding to C-terminal sequences in human Ect2 (Millipore).

Immunofluorescence: To visualize nuclei content, three days after Ad-Cre-infection the MEFs were plated onto coverslips. Twenty-four h after attachment, coverslips were rinsed with PBS, and fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) for 10 min. The cells were stained for 5 min with 5 ng/ml 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) in PBS, washed 2-3 times with PBS and then mounted onto slides. The cells were visually analyzed for nuclei content on an Olympus BX61 upright fluorescence microscope. Images collected using Velocity (Perkin Elmer). To visualize polymerized F-actin, cells were stained with Alexa Fluor® 647 phalloidin (Invitrogen).

**Flow cytometry**: Cells were trypsinized, washed in PBS and then fixed in 70% ethanol and then stored at -20°C. The day prior to analysis the cells were washed in PBS and then stained with 0.5 ml of propidium iodine staining solution (1% Triton-X-100, 1 mg/ml PI, 100 mg/ml of RNAse A) overnight at 4°C. Data were collected on Beckman Coulter CyAn analyzer and ModFit (Becton Dickinson) was used for cell cycle analysis.

# Results

*Generation of Ect2 mutant mice.* In order to evaluate the function of Ect2 in mammalian development we generated a conditional null mutation of the

mouse *Ect2* locus by gene targeting. Our targeting strategy focused on exon 8, which encodes the N-terminal tandem BRCT domains, by flanking it with *loxP* sites (Figure 2-1A). Cre-mediated deletion resulted in a  $\Delta$ floxed allele lacking exon 8 that is a null mutation based on the complete loss of Ect2 protein expression as we describe below. Figure 2-1A shows a schematic diagram of the wild-type *Ect2* allele, the targeting vector, the targeted allele after homologous recombination, and the resulting floxed (conditional) and  $\Delta$ floxed (conditional null) alleles.



#### Figure 2-1 Targeted disruption of the mouse Ect2 gene produces a null mutation

(A) Schematic diagram of the targeting vector, the wild-type allele, and the resulting Ect2 floxed allele (fl/fl) after FLP mediated deletion and the Ect2 $\Delta$ floxed (null) allele after Cre mediated deletion. Numbered, black bold vertical lines represent *Ect2* exons and horizontal gray bar represents flanking intron sequences. *LoxP* and FRT sites are indicated by black and grey triangles, respectively. PCR primers for genotype analysis are indicated by the arrows. (B)

Genotypic analysis of wild-type (+/+), heterozygous  $\Delta$ floxed (+/-), mutant (null; mut) and floxed (fl/fl) DNA by PCR. Primer pair 1 and 2 produced a 334 bp wild-type fragment. Primer pair 3 and 2 produced a 498 bp mutant fragment. Primer pair 3 and 4 produced a 535 bp fragment from the wild-type allele, and a 655 bp fragment from the floxed allele. Abbreviations used are: DNA isolated from heterozygous constitutive ( $\Delta$ floxed) mice, +/- DNA; DNA isolated from wild-type mice, +/+ DNA; DNA isolated from homozygous conditional (floxed) mice, fl/fl DNA; detection of the constitutive allele,  $\Delta$ floxed; detection of the conditional allele,floxed); detection of the wild-type allele, WT. (Data provided by Kauselmann, Schoor, Kuehn, Friedman)

# Peri-implantation lethality of Ect2 mutant embryos. A ubiquitous Cre

driver was used to generate constitutive null heterozygotes. Intercrosses of these  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice failed to produce any homozygous mutants at birth among 224 offspring, suggesting that  $Ect2^{-/-}$  is embryonic lethal (Table 2-1). Therefore, we performed  $Ect2^{+/-}$  intercrosses as timed matings and genotyped embryos at progressively earlier stages of development. No  $Ect2^{-/-}$  embryos were obtained at embryonic days (E) 15.5, 13.5, or 8.5 (Table 2-1). These results suggested that Ect2 is required for either pre-implantation or early post-implantation development.

	Genotype			
Stage	+/+	+/-	-/-	
At weaning	92	132	0	
Embryos (13.5-15.5)	10	16	0	
Embryos (8.5) <sup>a</sup>	5	5	0	

Table 2-1. Genotypes of Weanlings and Embryos from Ect2 -/+ Intercrosses(Data provided by Solski, Bultman, Cowley, and Van Dyke)

<sup>a</sup> Examination of maternal uteri exhibited empty deciduas, suggesting peri-implantation lethality.

To investigate the peri-implantation stage in more detail, we performed additional  $Ect2^{+/-}$  intercrosses, isolated blastocysts at E3.5, and analyzed their outgrowth *ex vivo* [86]. Homozygous  $Ect2^{-/-}$  blastocysts had a morphologically

normal trophectoderm (TE) and inner cell mass (ICM) (Figure 2-2). We cultured 125 blastocysts for five days and then scored the resulting outgrowths and determined their genotypes. After this culture period, 84% of wild-type outgrowths and 92% of  $Ect2^{+/-}$  outgrowths were scored as normal based on the presence of both TE and extensive ICMs (Figure 2-2, Table 2-2). In contrast, no  $Ect2^{-/-}$  outgrowths were scored as normal. Instead, 14% of homozygous blastocysts failed to hatch from their zona pellucida and the remaining 86% were scored as abnormal based on the ICM not being viable. These results indicate Ect2 is required for peri-implantation development.



#### Figure 2-2 *Ect2<sup>-/-</sup>* blastocysts display abnormal growth *in vitro*

Photographs of wild-type (+/+), heterozygous (+/-), and homozygous null (-/-) blastocyst at time of isolation at E3.5 (Day 0) and after being cultured for 5 days (Day 5). Arrows point to inner cell mass, which is missing in  $Ect2^{-/-}$  blastocysts. Arrowheads point to trophectoderm. (Data provided by Solski, Bultman, Cowley, and Van Dyke)

(Data provided by Solski, Bultman, Cowley, and Van Dyke)							
	+/+	+/-	-/-	ND			
Normal <sup>a</sup>	27	58	0	12			
Abnormal <sup>b</sup>	3	2	6	6			
Unhatched	2	3	1	5			
Total	32	63	7	23			

 Table 2-2 Phenotypes and Genotype of Blastocyst Outgrowth Derived from Ect2

 intercrosses

ND, not determined.

<sup>a</sup>Survival and good outgrowth for trophectoderm and inner cell mass.

<sup>b</sup>Hatched, but inner cell mass failed to grow

*Normal development of Ect2*<sup>+/-</sup> *mice.* Since  $Ect2^{-/-}$  mice were embryonic lethal, we monitored  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice for haploinsufficiency. We compared  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice to their wild-type littermates at several stages of development. No changes in weight, gross appearance, or histology were found in  $Ect2^{+/-}$  compared to wild-type littermates at E15.5, 30 days, and one year (Figure 2-3A and data not shown). The lifespan of  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mutant mice were then followed longitudinally. No differences in survival were observed between  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice and their wild-type littermates (Figure 2-3B).

Given that we did not identify phenotypic differences between  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice and their wild-type littermates, we examined whether the reduced gene dosage of  $Ect2^{+/-}$  heterozygotes resulted in a corresponding decreases in the level of Ect2 protein expression. We isolated mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) at E15.5 from both  $Ect2^{+/+}$  and  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice, and examined Ect2 protein levels (Figure 2-3C). We found no significant differences in Ect2 protein expression between

*Ect2*<sup>+/-</sup> and *Ect2*<sup>+/+</sup> MEFs, suggesting that  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice had equivalent levels of Ect2 protein compared to their wild-type littermates.





(A)  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice are similar in size and appearance as  $Ect2^{+/+}$  mice at E15.5, 30 days, and 1 year. (B) Ect2 protein expression in wild-type and  $ect2^{+/-}$  MEFs. Cell lysates from the indicated cells were blotted with anti-Ect2 antibody and anti- $\beta$ -actin to verify equivalent total protein loading. Densitometry scanning was used to quantitative the level of Ect2 expression, which were then normalized to the level of  $\beta$ -actin and then normalized to +/+ MEFs, with fold difference shown. (C)  $Ect2^{+/-}$  mice have a similar survival age as  $Ect2^{+/+}$  mice. Mice were monitored for 25 months. (Data provided by Solski, Bultman, Cowley, Van Dyke, and Yeh)

Ect2 deficiency results in multinucleated cells with altered morphology and impaired migration. As Ect2 deficiency was embryonic lethal, we isolated and immortalized MEFs from  $Ect2^{t/t}$  and  $Ect2^{t/t}$  mice. These cells were then infected with recombinant adenovirus expressing Cre (Ad-Cre) to excise exon 8 of Ect2. An infection efficiency of 90-100% was achieved and this resulted in a complete loss of Ect2 expression (Figure 2-4A). Ad-Cre-infected Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> MEFs were much larger in size than their wild-type counterparts and appeared to have abundant nuclei and cytoplasm at 72 h post-infection. To examine this observation further, we sparsely plated Ad-Cre-infected MEFs on coverslips 24 h post-infection and allowed the cells to grow for 72 h. Using fluorescent microscopy, we found that Ad-Cre-infected *Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup>* MEFs were large and multinucleated. Both  $Ect2^{fl/fl}$  and  $Ect2^{+/+}$  MEFs appeared normal when infected with a control recombinant adenovirus expressing green fluorescent protein (Ad-GFP; Figure 2-4B and data not shown). We quantitated the difference in nucleation and found that Ad-Cre-infected MEFs which are Ect2dficient had a significantly higher percentage of multinucleated cells (~85%) compared to wild-type MEFs (<3%), suggesting that loss of Ect2 expression causes a defect in mitosis (Figure 2-4C). To further assess Ect2 expression in Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> MEFs infected with Ad-Cre, immunofluorescence of Ect2 was performed and the *Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup>* MEFs infected with Ad-Cre showed a loss of specific Ect2 staining whereas the non-treated control showed clear Ect2 nuclear staining as expected (Figure 2-4D).

The increase in multinucleation associated with loss of Ect2 expression was also quantified by cell cycle analysis, and the E*ct2*<sup>*fi/fi*</sup> MEFs showed a large increase in cells in G2/M phase when infected with Ad-Cre as compared to the Ad-GFP control virus and untreated MEFs (Figure 2-4E). Furthermore, Ad-Cre-infection had no effect on wild-type MEFs indicating the specificity of the phenotype. Finally, the defect in cytokinesis could be rescued by infection with the FUGW lentivirus expression vector that encodes full length wild type human Ect2, demonstrating that impaired cytokinesis was due to loss of Ect2 expression (Figure 2-4A-E).



#### Figure 2-4 Loss of Ect2 expression results in an accumulation of multinucleated cells

(A) Loss of Ect2 expression in Ad-Cre-infected MEFs. Western blot analysis with anti-Ect2 antibody that recognizes the C-terminus of Ect2 was done to verify loss of Ect2 protein expression upon Cre-mediate excision of Ect2. Blot analysis with anti- $\beta$ -actin antibody was done to verify equivalent total protein. NT, no treatment; Ad-Cre, infected with Cre adenovirus; Ad-GFP, infected with control vector GFP adenovirus. (B) Fluorescent images of Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> MEFs ectopically expressing FUGW vector or expressing Ect2 and infected with Ad-GFP control vector or Ad-Cre adenovirus. Scale bar is 20  $\mu$ m. Nuclei were stained with DAPI (blue) and F- actin with phalloidin (green) (C) Quantification of nuclei per cell in Ect2<sup>+/+</sup>, Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> vector, Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> MEFs with

no treatment (NT), adenovirus GFP (Ad-GFP), or adenovirus Cre (Ad-Cre). Cells were stained with a nuclear specific dye DAPI. Results are representative from one of three experiments. Nuclei per cell were counted for approximately 100 cells per field and five fields per condition. Standard error of the mean (SEM) is shown and were determined by the standard deviation divided by the square root of n = 5 different fields. (D) Immunofluorescence of Ect2 expression in  $Ect2^{fl/fl}$  MEFs that were not treated (NT) or infected with Cre adenovirus (Ad-Cre). Green is endogenous Ect2 expression detected using an anti-Ect2 antibody. (E) Cell cycle profiles by flow cytometry of analysis of  $Ect2^{+/+}$ ,  $Ect2^{fl/fl}$  vector (FUGW),  $Ect2^{fl/fl}$  Ect2 (FUGW-Ect2). Abbreviations used are: MEFs with no treatment ,NT; control virus,Ad-GFP; Cre recombinase expressing virus, Ad-Cre.

Since Ect2 is an activator of Rho GTPases and Rho GTPases regulate actin reorganization, we also evaluated the consequences of Ect2 loss on actin organization. Phalloidin staining of control and Ad-Cre-infected MEFs showed similar low levels of actin stress fibers, but there was a reduction in membrane ruffling (Figure 2-4B). Since Rho GTPases can regulate cell attachment and migration we also utilized time-lapse microscopy to monitor cell motility. Control Ad-GFP-infected MEFs exhibited high motility, whereas Cre-mediated loss of Ect2 caused a striking near complete loss of this activity.

*Rho GTPases cannot rescue the multinucleated phenotype caused by loss of Ect2*. There is considerable evidence that suggests that the requirement for Ect2 during cytokinesis is for activation of RhoA at the central spindle and midbody to complete mitosis [65, 81]. However, there is also evidence that Ect2 activation of Cdc42 but not Rac1 is important for mitosis [83]. In contrast, a recent study determined that ectopic expression of constitutively activated Rac1 but not RhoA (or Cdc42) that rescued the loss of endogenous Ect2 to restore lung carcinoma cell anchorage-independent growth and invasion [38]. Thus, the specific Rho GTPase important for the role of Ect2 in cytokinesis remains to be elucidated.

To determine if a specific activated Rho GTPase could rescue the cytokinesis defect caused by the ablation of Ect2 expression, hemagglutinin (HA) epitope-tagged wild-type or constitutively active, GTPase-deficient mutants [RhoA(Q63L), Rac1(Q61L) and Cdc42(Q61L)] were each stably expressed in Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> MEFs prior to Cre expression (Figure 2-5A). Surprisingly, expression of wild-type or constitutively active GTPases failed to rescue the multinucleation phenotype associated with the loss of Ect2 expression (Figure 2-5B). Since fast cycling mutants with enhanced intrinsic nucleotide exchange activities may better model GTPase activation by a RhoGEF [87], we also ectopically expressed RhoA(F30L), Rac1(F28L) or Cdc42(F28L) in Ect2-depleted MEFs but no rescue of cytokinesis was seen. These negative results contrast with the ability of constitutively activated Rac1(Q61L) to rescue loss of cytoplasmic mislocalized Ect2 in lung cancer cells [38], and may indicate the requirement for a more precise temporal and spatial control of GTPase activity during normal cell cytokinesis.



Figure 2-5 Rho GTPases did not rescue the defect cytokinesis caused by loss of Ect2 (A) Western blot analysis of  $Ect2^{I\!M\!R}$  MEFs ectopically expressing HA-tagged RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 wild-type (WT) and constitutively active mutants of RhoA (Q63L point mutation) or Rac1 and Cdc42 (Q61L). (B) Cell cycle profiles by flow cytometry of analysis of Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> MEFs ectopically expressing HA-tagged RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 wild-type (WT) and constitutively active GTPases with no treatment (NT), control virus (Ad-GFP) or Cre infection (Ad-Cre).

### Discussion

Despite the fact that Ect2 is one of at least 25 RhoGEFs that activate RhoA, observations made in cell culture studies and in *Drosophila* [29] and *C. elegans* [88] suggest an essential and unique role for this RhoGEF in cytokinesis and cell growth. To evaluate a function for Ect2 in normal mammalian cell physiology, we generated knockout mice. We found that an Ect2 deficiency caused early embryonic lethality and a complete loss of proliferation *in vitro* that was associated with impaired cytokinesis, altered cell morphology and suppressed cell migration. We conclude that Ect2 function is unique among all 83 mammalian RhoGEFs in its essential requirement for cytokinesis.

Our studies provide the first analyses of mammalian Ect2 function in normal cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Previously, Ect2 function *in vivo* was evaluated in *Drosophila* and *C. elegans* invertebrate species. In *Drosophila*, loss of function of the Ect2 ortholog, *pebble*, resulted in embryonic lethality [29]. Homozygous *pebble* deficient mutant embryos at the end of embryogenesis contained fewer and larger cells with enlarged nuclei. The first 13 rapid syncytial nuclear divisions proceeded normally in *pebble* deficient embryos. Following cellularization, the postblastoderm nuclear divisions occurred (mitoses 14, 15 and 16), but cytokinesis was not observed, with multinucleated cells seen at cycle 15 mitoses. In *C. elegans*, RNA interference of *Ect-2* caused sterility and embryonic lethality, in addition to reduced migration of embryonic P-cells [88]. However, there is evidence for a second mammalian Dbl family RhoGEF, GEF-H1, in regulation of cytokinesis[22] and no GEF-H1 orthologs are found in *Drosophila* or *C. elegans*.

Additionally, Ect2-independent cytokinesis has been described in some human cell types,[89]. Therefore, we anticipated the possibility that Ect2 may not be required for normal cell cytokinesis *in vivo*. However, our finding of embryonic lethality secondary to Ect2 deficiency is consistent with the essential role for this RhoGEF in normal cell cytokinesis. As Ect2 activates Rho GTPases that can be activated by other RhoGEFs, Ect2 must regulate Rho GTPases in a highly unique spatial and/or temporal pattern of activation that cannot be facilitated accurately by any other RhoGEF.

Similar to our observations with an *Ect2* deficiency, a *MgcRacGAP* deficiency also results in pre-implantation lethality [54]. MgcRacGAP is a component of central spindlin and facilitates Ect2 recruitment to the central spindle. siRNA depletion of MgcRacGAP phenocopies Ect2 loss and results in a cytokinesis defect *in vitro* [23, 25, 26, 90]. At E3.0-3.5, the *MgcRacGAP* deficiency caused formation of binucleated blastomeres, suggesting that *MgcRacGAP* is required for normal mitosis and cytokinesis in the pre-implantation embryo. All homozygous mutant blastocysts failed to grow out *in vitro*. The similar developmental consequences of *Ect2* or *MgcRacGAP* loss suggest that the *Ect2* deficiency-induced embryonic lethality is a consequence of the role of Ect2 in cytokinesis.

A recent study addressed a role for Ect2 in mouse oocyte meiosis in vitro and found that Ect2 depletion caused a block in the extrusion of the first polar body [91]. This observation suggests a much earlier requirement for Ect2 in development than suggested from our studies. This is likely due to the presence

of maternal Ect2 in the oocytes derived from *Ect2<sup>-/+</sup>* intercrosses. The requirement for Ect2 in meiosis was found to be associated with RhoA and RhoA activation of its effector, the ROCK serine/threonine kinase.

In a majority of previous studies addressing the consequence of a specific RhoGEF deficiency for normal mouse development, while specific cellular defects have been identified, generally normal development and viability were retained [12]. These observations are consistent with the redundant functions of RhoGEFs, with 83 mammalian RhoGEFs regulating 14 Rho GTPases (six Rho GTPases are constitutively active and not believed to be regulated by RhoGEFs) [49]. While two Dbl RhoGEFs have been found to be essential for mouse development, because they possess additional non-RhoGEF catalytic functions, it is not clear that this is due to the loss of their RhoGEF activities. For example, a Sos1 deficiency leads to embryonic lethality [50, 92], but this is most likely due to the fact that Sos1 is also a RasGEF and key regulator of Ras activation by receptor tyrosine kinases. Deficiency in another Dbl RhoGEF, Trio, also causes embryonic lethality, with *Trio<sup>-/-</sup>* embryos dying between E15.5 and birth, or shortly thereafter [51]. However, Trio is multifunctional protein possessing two distinct DH-PH tandem domains, one active on RhoA and the second on Rac1, and additionally a protein serine/threonine kinase domain. Thus, whether the essential function of Trio in development is its two RhoGEF functions is not clear. In contrast to Sos1 and Trio, Ect2 has no other known catalytic function aside from its RhoGEF activity, although Ect2-interacting proteins may facilitate Ect2dependent, non RhoGEF-associated functions important for cytokinesis.

The role of Ect2 in cytokinesis has been attributed to recruitment of RhoA and localized RhoA activation at the central spindle complex [26, 39]. Additionally, our analyses of the isolated DH-PH domain fragment of Ect2 identified activity for RhoA, the related RhoB and RhoC isoforms, but not for eight other Rho GTPase tested in vitro, including Rac1, Rac2 and Rac3 (data not shown). However, one study found that Ect2 was required for Cdc42 activation during mitosis [83] Furthermore, we and others found that constitutively activated N-terminally truncated Ect2 can activate RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 in vivo [43]. To determine the key Rho GTPase important for Ect2 regulation of cytokinesis, we determined if ectopic expression of constitutively activated RhoA, Rac1 or Cdc42 could rescue the loss of endogenous Ect2 and restore proper cytokinesis. This approach was utilized recently to show that constitutively activated Rac1 alone could restore Ect2-dependent lung tumor cell growth [38]. Therefore, we were surprised that no one activated Rho GTPase was able to rescue the block in cytokinesis caused by Ect2 depletion. One possible explanation for this is that Ect2 may need to activate multiple Rho GTPases concurrently. Interestingly, consistent with our findings, activated RhoA orthologs did not rescue the Ect2 deficiency-induced cytokinesis defect in Drosophila or C. elegans [88]. Another possible explanation may be that Ect2 activation of RhoA during cytokinesis is highly regulated spatially and temporally. Therefore constitutively activated RhoA may not accurately mimic this more precise regulation. Our ongoing evaluation of recombinant Ect2 Rho GTPase specificity found activity for only RhoA and related isoforms. Therefore, we favor the second possibility and our future

studies will address the importance of Ect2 subcellular localization in supporting cytokinesis.

In addition to a cytokinesis defect, we also observed a defect in MEF cell morphology and migration. Ect2 loss in MEFs resulted in enlarged and flattened cells with increased cytoplasmic content. Whereas wild-type MEFs are highly motile, Ect2 loss resulted in a near complete loss of movement. Similar Ect2 deficiency-associated defects were seen in normal cell migration in *C. elegans* and *Drosophila* [88, 93], and in tumor cell migration and invasion [38, 62]. However, these defects were associated with Rac and not RhoA activation. We observed that the Ect2 depletion-associated loss of MEF cell motility was associated with decreased membrane ruffling activity, an activity also associated with Rac activity.

In summary, our studies provide the first analysis of Ect2 function in normal cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and we show that, despite the existence of multiple RhoGEFs, Ect2 plays an unique role in develop and progression through mitosis. Using our conditional mouse model, our ongoing studies will assess the consequences of Ect2 deficiency in adult tissue homeostasis and in tumor progression and maintenance. Furthermore, using MEFs with conditional Ect2 loss, where we can rescue the cytokinesis defect by ectopic wild type Ect2 expression, we will perform detailed structure-function analyses of Ect2 to delineate what aspects of Ect2 are essential for its unique role in maintenance of normal cell cytokinesis.

# Chapter 3 Aberrant Ect2 expression and subcellular localization in colorectal cancer<sup>2</sup>

# Overview

Ect2 is an activator of the RhoA small GTPase, is nuclear restricted in interphase cells and essential for normal cell cytokinesis. Ect2 was identified originally as potent oncoprotein when expressed in NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts. However, the mechanism of activation, N-terminal truncation and cytoplasmic mislocalization (designated  $\Delta N$ -Ect2) was due to in vitro DNA manipulation and truncated Ect2 proteins have not been found in human cancer. We identified elevated full length Ect2 protein levels in CRC tumors and cell lines. Our immunohistochemistry analyses of a CRC tumor tissue microarray detected both cytoplasmic and nuclear Ect2, consistent with cytoplasmic mislocalization as a mechanism for Ect2 activation. However, unexpectedly, the ratio of cytoplasmic to nuclear expression correlated with improved patient survival. To address the importance of subcellular localization in CRC, we first determined that suppression of Ect2 expression impaired CRC cell line anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion. Surprisingly, we found that ectopic expression of Ect2 variants with impaired nuclear localization did not rescue loss of endogenous Ect2 to restore anchorage-independent growth. Furthermore, the

<sup>2</sup> Chapter adapted from manuscript: "Aberrant Ect2 expression, subcellular localization and function in colorectal cancer" Cook, D.R., Kang, M., Martin, T.D., Galnako, J.A., Tran, J., Elizabeth, R.D, Statford, J.K., Temitope, K.O., Yeh, J., Robert, S.S., Der, C.J.

cytoplasmic and constitutively activated ∆N-Ect2 mutant strongly impaired CRC growth. We conclude that nuclear Ect2 is important to support CRC growth, whereas cytoplasmic Ect2 activity is deleterious for CRC growth and may explain why truncated Ect2 proteins have not been found in human cancers. Finally, we determined that Ect2 nuclear localization is also essential to support normal cell cytokinesis. In summary, our results emphasize the critical role of precise subcellular localization in dictating Ect2 function in normal and neoplastic cells.

#### Introduction

Rho family small GTPases function as key signaling nodes that are activated by diverse extracellular stimuli that act on receptor tyrosine kinases, G protein-coupled receptors, integrins and other cell surface receptors. Once activated Rho GTPases engage downstream effectors that regulate cytoplasmic signaling networks that control actin organization, cell cycle progression and gene expression [6]. Therefore, it is not surprising that the aberrant activation of Rho GTPases has been implicated in cancer, neurological and developmental disorders and other human diseases [57, 94, 95]. However, in contrast to the related Ras small GTPases which are mutated in cancer and developmental disorders, Rho GTPases are infrequently mutated in disease. Instead, Rho GTPase activities are disrupted by indirect mechanisms [9].

The human Rho GTPase family is comprised of 20 members, with RhoA, Rac1 and Cdc42 the best-studied [49]. Rho GTPases function as GTP-GDP regulated binary on-off switches. Extracellular stimuli activate Rho-selective guanine nucleotide exchange factors (RhoGEFs) to promote GDP-GTP

exchange and formation of active Rho-GTP. Active Rho-GTP then binds multiple effectors, stimulating a cascade of cytoplasmic signaling networks. When the stimulus is terminated, Rho-selective GTPase activating proteins (RhoGAPs) accelerate the intrinsic GTP hydrolysis activity of Rho GTPases, returning the protein to the inactive GDP-bound state. Aberrant activation of RhoGEFs or lossof-function of RhoGAPs has been found in cancer, leading to persistent formation of the GTP-bound protein and stimulus-independent activation of effector signaling [9]. For example, we previously showed that the Rac-selective RhoGEF Tiam1 effector of mutationally activated is an Ras [96]. That mice deficient in Tiam1 or Rac1 show impaired mutant RAS-induced tumor formation demonstrates the important driver function of Rac activation in cancer development [97-99]. Similarly, we recently found that the Rac-selective RhoGEF P-Rex1 was upregulated by ERK mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling in melanoma and P-Rex1 deficient mice showed greatly reduced incidence of metastatic melanoma formation in an NRAS/INK4A-driven mouse model of melanoma [100]. A genome sequencing study identified frequent mutational activation of the related P-Rex2 protein in melanoma [101].

Dbl family proteins comprise the largest family of RhoGEFs (>70 human members) and their initial discovery as activated oncogenes provided the first evidence that aberrant Rho GTPase activation may drive cancer growth [12]. For example, Dbl, Ect2 and Vav RhoGEFs were detected in NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblast focus formation assays [10, 19, 102]. Their mechanism of activation involved N-terminal deletion of sequences upstream of their catalytic Dbl

homology domain. However, these activation events were determined to occur as a consequence of in vitro DNA manipulation rather than bona fide genetic events in cancer cells. Rather surprisingly, despite their potent transforming activities in NIH 3T3 cells, truncated RhoGEFs have not been found in human cancers [9]. Paradoxically, when implicated in cancer growth, only full length (FL) RhoGEFs have been found. Furthermore, while Ect2 is normally sequestered in the nucleus of interphase cells, they found that Ect2 was mislocalized and found in the cytoplasm due to phosphorylation by protein kinase C iota [38]. This mechanism of activation is functionally analogous to the N-terminally truncated and activated Ect2 (designated  $\Delta N$ -Ect2) discovered initially in NIH 3T3 focus formation assays, where nuclear localization sequences (NLS) were lost in the truncated protein [19]. That disruption of the NLS motifs in FL Ect2 created a transforming protein when expressed in NIH 3T3 cells provided strong evidence that Ect2 oncogenic function is unmasked by mislocalization from the nucleus to the cytoplasm [36].

We identified *ECT2* as a gene elevated in expression in human primary colorectal cancer (CRC). We determined that Ect2 protein levels were elevated in CRC tumor tissue and cell lines and that suppression of Ect2 expression impaired CRC cell line anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion. Consistent with previous studies of Ect2 expression in other cancers, we also found Ect2 in the cytoplasm and nucleus. However, our immunohistochemistry staining of a CRC tumor microarray, unexpectedly, the ratio of cytoplasmic to nuclear Ect2 was associated with improved survival, suggesting that nuclear Ect2

may be important for cancer development and cytoplasmic Ect2 may be deleterious for cancer growth. To address this possibility, we determined that nuclear Ect2 was important to support CRC anchorage-independent growth and conversely that cytoplasmic, constitutively activated Ect2 was detrimental to CRC growth. Finally, we determined that CRC growth dependency on Ect2 was distinct from the role of Ect2 in cytokinesis, and unexpectedly, despite the absence of the nuclear envelope in cells undergoing cytokinesis, Ect2 support of cytokinesis required intact NLS motifs. In summary, our studies demonstrate a critical role for proper Ect2 subcellular localization in normal and neoplastic cell biology.

## Methods and Materials

**Gene array analysis**: Gene array analysis was performed by RNA isolation and hybridization using Agilent human whole genome 4×44 K DNA microarrays (Agilent Technologies). RNA was extracted from macrodissected snap-frozen tumor samples using Allprep Kits (Qiagen) and quantified using nanodrop spectrophotometry (ThermoScientific). RNA quality was assessed with the use of the Bioanalyzer 2100 (Agilent Technologies); similar quality RNA was selected for hybridization using RNA integrity number and by inspection of the 18S and 28S ribosomal RNA. One microgram of RNA was used as a template for DNA preparations and hybridized to Agilent 4×44 K whole human genome arrays (Agilent Technologies). cDNA was labeled with Cy5-dUTP and a reference control (Stratagene) was labeled with Cy3-dUTP using the Agilent (Agilent Technologies) low RNA input linear amplification kit and hybridized overnight at

65°C to Agilent 4×44 K whole human genome arrays (Agilent Technologies). Finally, arrays were washed and scanned using an Agilent scanner (Agilent Technologies).

**Oncomine Analyses**: Sample data includes age, histology, microsatellite status, TNM stage, KRAS mutation status, sex, stage, and others. This dataset is a combination of Colon Adenocarcinoma [COAD] and Rectum Adenocarcinoma [READ] data from the TCGA data portal and consists of Level 2 (processed) data. Sample data includes age, histology, microsatellite status, TNM stage, KRAS and BRAF mutation status, sex, stage, and others. This dataset is a combination of Colon Adenocarcinoma [COAD] and Rectum Adenocarcinoma [READ] data from the TCGA data portal and consists of Level 2 (processed) data. Sample data includes age, histology, microsatellite status, TNM stage, KRAS and BRAF mutation status, sex, stage, and others. This dataset is a combination of Colon Adenocarcinoma [COAD] and Rectum Adenocarcinoma [READ] data from the TCGA data portal and consists of Level 3 data (segmented using CBS). The resulting segments were mapped to RefSeq gene coordinates as provided by UCSC (UCSC refGene, July 2009; hg18, NCBI 36.1, March 2006). The samples were originally run on the Affymetrix SNP6 platform.

Tumor samples and construction of tissue microarrays (TMAs):

Cancer Care Outcomes Research and Surveillance Consortium (CanCORS) is a population-based cohort study. The study design of CanCORS has been described previously [103]. North Carolina CanCORS site enrolled newly diagnosed cases of CRC in North Carolina, encompassing both rural and urban areas. In addition to information collected by patient surveys and medical record review, the University of North Carolina site collected tissue blocks on consenting subjects. The study was approved by the human subjects committees at all participating institutions. TMAs were constructed from formalin-fixed,

paraffin-embedded colorectal tissues. Each microarray block included duplicate or triplicate cores of CRC and adjacent normal tissues from each patient. 29 TMAs that included 441 patients were selected for staining.

**Immunohistochemistry (IHC) for ECT2**: To validate the anti-Ect2 polyclonal rabbit antibody (Millipore) for IHC, we utilized CRC cell lines and tissue. Positive controls included a colon cancer tissue and HT29 cells. HT29 cells with *ECT2* gene knockdown were used as negative controls. TMAs, positive and negative control slides were stained using anti-Ect2 antibody at 1:350 dilution using Bond Antibody diluent (Leica Microsystems Inc.). Antigen was heat retrieved in citrate buffer, pH 6, for 30 min. The remainder of the staining was carried out using the Bond Polymer Refine Detection kit with the Bond Autostainer (Leica Microsystems Inc.) for the following times: primary antibody 6 h, post-primary 8 min, polymer 8 min, peroxide block 5 min, 3,3-diaminobenzidine 10 min, hematoxylin 7 min, and bluing 5 min.

Scoring of TMAs: Prior to scoring, crypts and colorectal epithelium in each core on the TMAs were manually annotated to remove the lamina propria and non-epithelial cells. Only the annotated areas were scored. Scoring for Ect2 expression was carried out using Cytoplasm algorithm in Imagescope (Aperio Inc.). Aperio Imagescope algorithms have been used for tumor tissue slide and TMA scoring and demonstrated good concordance with visual scoring in previous studies [104-106]. Further, the scoring was confirmed on a random sample of cores by visual inspection. Any cores with less than 300 epithelial cells, missing from falling off in the staining process, exhausted from prior sectioning, or cores

with staining artifact were excluded from analysis, which yielded 146 patients for analyses. Ect2 protein expression was measured by H-scores for nuclear or cytoplasmic staining (Cytoplasm Algorithm User's Guide from Aperio). Briefly, Hscore is an intensity score derived from the average intensity of the staining of the corresponding area (cytoplasm or nucleus) or, in other words, cellular average. For example, there are three intensity thresholds (1+, weak, 2+, moderate and 3+, intense), and H-score equals sum of (% of cells with 1+ staining)+2\*(% of cells with 2+ staining)+3\*(% of cells with 3+ staining). This would yield a range of scores from minimum of 0 and maximum score of 300, where 300 would represent 100% of the cells are 3+ in intensity. In this study, Hscore and Ect2 scores represent the same, and these words were used interchangeably.

**Statistical analysis**: ECT2 protein expressions were compared between tumor and normal tissues or between nuclear and cytoplasmic areas using paired t-test. Ect2 tumor scores were divided into tertiles, with cutoffs determined by Ect2 scores in normal tissues. To determine the association between patient characteristics and Ect2 tumor score tertiles, Kruskal-Wallis test was used for 2 category variables, Spearman correlation for variables with more than 2 categories (differentiation), and Wilcoxon rank test for continuous variable (overall survival). Cox proportional hazards models were used to calculate hazard ratios (HRs) and 95% confidence intervals (CIs) for mortality associated with continuous ECT2 scores. Multivariate models were fit to adjust for age (in 10 year increments), stage (American Joint Committee on Cancer/ Union

Internationale Contre le Cancer stages 1, 2, 3, or 4), grade (well, moderate or poorly differentiated), location of CRC (proximal or distal), and chemotherapy (yes or no). All analyses were performed using SAS Version 9.2 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC).

Cell lines and plasmids: CRC cell lines were obtained from ATCC and maintained in either DMEM-H or RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum, and frozen down to maintain limited passage history. Lentivirus vectors with shRNA sequences targeting human ECT2 and an expression vector for an shRNA resistant Ect2 cDNA expression vector kindly provided by Alan Fields (Mayo Clinic, Rochester, MN). The shRNA-resistant ECT2 cDNA sequence was used as a template for introduction of missense mutations or generation of truncations by the QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis kit (Stratagene). The wild type or mutant ECT2 cDNA sequences were subcloned into the pCDH EF1 IRES puro lentiviral vector (Systems Biosciences) to encode an N-terminal hemagglutinin (HA) epitope tag. Immortalized mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) derived from mouse embryos that harbor a conditional *Ect2* floxed allele (*Ect2<sup>t/t/t</sup>*) [53]. Cre-mediated deletion results in a  $\Delta$ floxed allele lacking exon 8 that is a null mutation based on the complete loss of Ect2 protein expression. Recombinant adenovirus expressing Cre recombinase (Ad-Cre) or green fluorescent protein (Ad-GFP) to control for effects due to adenovirus infection were used to induce loss of Ect2 expression (Gene Transfer Vector Core, University of Iowa).

NIH 3T3 transformation Assays: NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts were maintained in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) with 10% Colorado

calf serum (Colorado Serum Company). Cells were transfected using lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) in 6-well plates. Approximately 14-days post-transfec- tion, the plates were stained with crystal violet, and the appearance of foci of transformed cells was quantified by visual inspection.

**Matrigel invasion assays**: Real-time invasion assays where performed on the xCELLigance system (Roche). Similar to traditional Boyden chamber a CIM-Plate 16 (Roche) was used where the top of the trans-well was coated with Matrigel (BD Bioscience) and Matrigel and allowed to gel at  $37^{\circ}$ C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for two h. After two h, cells where plated over the Matrigel in serum-free growth medium and complete growth medium supplement with 10% fetal calf serum was added to the bottom of the transwell as a chemoattractant. Invasive cells will migrate through the Matrigel then though the micropores of the CIM-Plate 16. These migrating cells are detected by the electronic sensing microelectrodes, producing changes in impedance, reported as cell index values. The xCELLigence system was set to collect impendence data every two min for at least 40 h [107, 108].

Anchorage-independent growth assays: Anchorage-independent growth assays consisted of suspending cells in soft agar as described previously [109]. Briefly, cells were were resuspended in growth medium containing ~0.3% bacto agar(BD Biosciences) and the plated at 20,000 cells per well over a 0.6% bacto agar layer in 6-well plates. Cells were maintained at 37°C for 2-4 weeks. After this time, viable colonies were stained with the 3-(4,5-dimethyl-2-thiazolyl)-2,5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide viability stain for ~30 min at 37°C. Then

number of viable colonies of was quantified by counting the number of colonies in three wells per condition. Results are expressed as mean  $\pm$  S.D.

**MTT proliferation assays**: Cells were plated in 96-well plate at 1,000 cells/well and allowed to grow at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub>, for 24-120 h. To asses growth MTT (3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2,5-diphenyl tetrazolium bromide (Sigma) was dissolved in PBS at 5 mg/ml and 20 uL of MTT solution was added to each well. The plates were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO<sub>2</sub> for two h. After two h, the medium and MTT solution is removed and then the formazan product produced by living cells is dissolved by adding 100 uL of DMSO. After a few minutes at room temperature to ensure that all crystals were dissolved, the plates were read on EL<sub>x</sub>800 universal microplate reader (Bio-Tek instruments) at 570 nm.

**Flow Cytometry**: Flow cytometry studies were performed on a Beckman-Coulter (Dako) CyAn ADP. The analyzer is equipped forward and side scatter and 9 colors of fluorescence using 405 nm, 488 nm and 635 nm excitations.

**Cell Cycle**: DNA content measurement identifies G0/G1-, S- and G2/Mphases of the cell cycle by propidium iodide staining. Cells were trypsinized, washed in PBS and then fixed in 70% ethanol and then stored at -20°C. The day prior to analysis the cells were washed in PBS and then stained with 0.5 ml of propidium iodine staining solution (1% Triton-X-100, 1 mg/ml PI, 100 mg/ml of RNAse A) overnight at 4°C. Data were collected on Beckman Coulter CyAn analyzer at at The UNC flow cytometry core facility and ModFit (Becton Dickinson) was used for cell cycle analysis.

**Western blot analyses**: To evaluate protein expression cell lysates were resolved by SDS-polyacrylamide gel electorphoresis followed by western blot analysis with antibodies that recognize Ect2 (Millipore), HA (Covance),  $\beta$ -actin (Sigma), lamin A/C (Cell Signaling), and HSP 90 (Upstate).

Ect2 RhoGEF activity assays: The bacterially expressed glutathione Stransferase fusion protein containing the nucleotide-free mutant of RhoA [GST-RhoA(G17A)] was used as an affinity reagent to isolate active Ect2 expressed in cells were done as we have described in detail previously [110-112].Briefly, Ect2 expressing cell lysates were normalized for equivalent total cellular protein and then incubated with 30  $\mu$ g of purified GST-tagged RhoA(17A) bound to glutathione-sepharose beads for 60 min at 4°C. Samples were then washed with lysis buffer and processed for SDS-PAGE.

**Immunofluorescence**: Twenty-four h after attachment, coverslips fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) for 10 min. The cells were stained for 5 min with 5 ng/ml 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) in PBS, washed 2-3 times with PBS and mounted with FluorSave (Calbiochem). The cells were visually analyzed for nuclei content on an Olympus BX61 upright fluorescence microscope. Images collected using Velocity (Perkin Elmer). To visualize polymerized F-actin, cells were stained with Alexa Fluor® 647 phalloidin (Invitrogen).

# Results

*Increased Ect2 gene and protein expression in CRC*. To identify genes deregulated in expression in CRC, we performed gene microarray analyses on a
set of primary CRC and unmatched nontumor tissue. One gene found upregulated was ECT2 (Figure 3-1A). To determine whether Ect2 protein expression is elevated in CRC tumors, we performed blot analyses on a panel of matched normal, primary and metastatic CRC tissue. Increased Ect2 protein that comigrated with FL Ect2 was seen in six of eight primary CRC tumors when compared with normal (Figure 3-1B), with variable results seen with metastatic tumors. We also found high Ect2 protein expression in a majority of CRC cell lines (Figure 3-1C). Finally, adenoma tissue from the APC/Min mouse also exhibited elevated FL Ect2 protein levels (Figure 3-1D). When considered with APC mutation as the first genetic alteration in CRC tumor progression [69], and CRC the consistent increase seen in primary tumors, this



#### Figure 3-1. Increased Ect2 RNA and protein expression in colorectal cancer

A. Box plot of Ect2 mRNA expression from a microarray of 47 normal colon samples compared to 184 tumor samples. \*\*\*P-value = 4.784417e-16 B. Ect2 protein expression in normal, primary, and metastatic tissues from 8 CRC patients. C. Elevated Ect2 protein expression in panel of CRC cell lines. D. Increased Ect2 protein in APC min mouse adenoma. E. Ect2 mRNA levels in 215 colorectal adenocarcinoma and 22 paired normal colorectal tissue samples were analyzed F. No significant *ECT2* gene amplification in CRC. Data compiled from 436 CRC adenocarcinoma and 351 paired normal blood and 94 paired normal CRC tissue samples were analyzed. suggests that increased Ect2 expression is an early event in CRC tumor progression.

Our identification of *ECT2* by gene array analyses suggested that increased Ect2 protein expression was due to increased *ECT2* gene transcription. To further address this possibility, we utilized Oncomine analyses and found increased *ECT2* expression in both colon and rectal adenoma and adenocarcinoma from five published gene microarray datasets [113-117] as well as from the TGCA database (Figure 3-1E). In particular, the TGCA data set comprised of RNA data from 215 CRC adenocarcinoma and 22 paired normal CRC tissue and genomic DNA copy number data from 436 CRC and 351 paired normal blood and 94 paired normal colorectal tissue samples indicate that increased *ECT2* expression is not due to gene amplification (<u>http://tcgadata.nci.nih.gov/tcga/</u>) (Figure 3-1F). This result contrasts with lung cancer, where increased *ECT2* gene expression was attributed to *ECT2* gene amplification [38].

Increased ratio of Ect2 cytoplasmic-to-nuclear staining correlates with improved CRC patient survival. In addition to overexpression, the deregulated subcellular localization of normally nuclear Ect2 has also been described as a mechanism for causing aberrant Ect2 function in cancer [36, 38]. To determine if cytoplasmic mislocalization is associated with Ect2 in CRC, after validating an anti-Ect2 antibody for immunohistochemistry (IHC) analyses, we performed Ect2 expression analyses on a CRC tumor microarray. The results are presented for 146 patients that had Ect2 scores for normal, tumor or both as well

as information on overall survival and clinicopathologic characteristics. Shown in Figure 3-2A are representative stained tumor sections. Tumors displayed a range of staining, with the moderate to high levels seen in tumor but not adjacent nontumor tissue.

The overall Ect2 score (sum of nuclear and cytoplasmic scores) was higher in the tumor compared to the adjacent normal tissue (87.9 versus 72.5, respectively), but the difference was not statistically significant (p=0.09). Nuclear staining was more prevalent than cytoplasmic staining (51.1 $\pm$ 3.6; average of tumor and normal nuclear scores  $\pm$  standard error) versus 29.1 $\pm$ 2.6, respectively) (p <0.001). We also evaluated nuclear and cytoplasmic Ect2 protein expressions separately to determine the localization within each region. The tumor had higher Ect2 expression than the normal, for both cytoplasmic and nuclear sites (p=0.13 nuclear, p=0.06 cytoplasmic) (Figure 3-2B). When the ratio of Ect2 cytoplasmic score over Ect2 nuclear score was compared between tumor and normal, the ratio was significantly higher in the tumor tissues (p=0.01) (Figure 3-2C).

Next we assessed the relationship between tertiles of Ect2 expression (low, medium and high) and clinicopathologic characteristics. There was a significant association between nuclear Ect2 expression and tumor grade. In particular, well-differentiated tumors tended to have low Ect2 nuclear expression, but as the grade increased to poorly differentiated tumors, Ect2 nuclear expression was increased (p=0.04 for trend) (Table 3-1). Males tended to have higher cytoplasmic to nuclear Ect2 score ratios compared to females who were more likely to have lower Ect2 ratios (Table 3-2). Tumors located in the distal

colon and rectum also had higher Ect2 ratios than proximal tumors, which tended to have low Ect2 ratios (Table 3-2). No statistically significant associations were found between cytoplasmic Ect2 scores and evaluated clinicopathologic characteristics. Furthermore, there were no statistically significant associations between nuclear Ect2 expression alone or cytoplasmic Ect2 expression alone and overall survival. However, we observed that Ect2 cytoplasmic to nuclear ratio showed a positive relationship. Overall survival improved with increasing cytoplasmic to nuclear expression ratio (p=0.001), suggesting that the site of localization of Ect2 either in the nucleus or cytoplasm may be a better determent of CRC prognosis (Figure 3-2D).

	Ν	ECT2 low	ECT2 medium	ECT2 high	P value
Age, mean (SE)	139	66.1 (1.6)	67.0 (2.0)	65.1 2.1)	0.81
Gender, n (%)					
Male	77	24 (31)	26 (34)	27 (35)	0.54
Female	62	23 (37)	19 (31)	20 (32)	
Race, n (%)					
White	107	34 (32)	34 (32)	39 (36)	0.38
Black	29	11 (38)	10 (34)	8 (28)	
Stage, n (%)					
1+2	50	17 (34)	11 (22)	22 (44)	0.76
3+4	58	16 (28)	23 (40)	19 (33)	
Differentiation, n (%)					
Well	6	4 (66)	1 (17)	1 (17)	0.04
Mod	81	26 (32)	25 (31)	30 (37)	
Poor	18	3 (17)	6 (33)	9 (50)	
Location, n (%)					
Proximal	46	15 (33)	14 (30)	17 (37)	0.62
Distal	56	18 (32)	22 (39)	16 (29)	

Table 3-1 Associations between patient characteristics and tertiles of ECT2 scores for nuclear expression

To address if Ect2 expression correlates to patient characteristics leading to an increase in mortality, we employed Cox proportional hazards models. In the univariate model, a higher Ect2 cytoplasmic to nuclear ratio was significantly associated with a lower risk of death in a piecewise manner: as the ratio increased by 0.5 increments, the risk of death decreased by 40%. However, increasing age (by 10 year increments), higher tumor stage than lower stages, and poor tumor grade were associated with increased risk of death. Even after adjustment for age, stage, differentiation, location of tumor and chemotherapy, a higher cytoplasmic to nuclear Ect2 ratio still demonstrated a reduced risk of dying that was statistically significant, suggesting that a high proportion of cytoplasmic Ect2 expression to nuclear expression may be a good prognostic marker in CRC.

Table 3-2 Associations between patient characteristics and tertiles of ECT2 scores for the ratio of cytosolic to nuclear expression

Characteristic	Ν	ECT2 low	ECT2 medium	ECT2 high	P value
Age, mean (SE)	139	67.8 (1.9)	67.0 (1.9)	63.5 (1.9)	0.25
Gender, n (%)					
Male	77	21 (27)	26 (34)	30 (39)	0.06
Female	62	26 (42)	19 (31)	17 (27)	
Race, n (%)					
White	107	39 (36)	34 (32)	34 (32)	0.29
Black	29	8 (28)	9 (31)	12 (41)	
Stage, n (%)					
1+2	50	12 (24)	16 (32)	22 (44)	0.77
3+4	58	14 (24)	21 (36)	23 (40)	
Differentiation, n (%)					
Well	3	0 (0)	2 (33)	4 (67)	0.48
Mod	57	22 (27)	27 (33)	32 (40)	
Poor	14	4 (22)	7 (39)	7 (39)	
Location, n (%)					
Proximal	46	19 (41)	15 (33)	12 (26)	0.07
Distal	56	15 (27)	18 (32)	23 (41)	





A. Increased Ect2 cytoplasmic and nuclear staining in CRC tumor. Representative examples of Ect2 staining by IHC for adjacent nontumor colorectal tissue and colorectal tumor tissues with weak, moderate, or strong intensity of Ect2 staining. Shown are 5x magnification in Aperio Imagescope. B. Ect2 expression in tumor cell cytoplasm and nuclear compartments. Ect2 score comparison between normal and tumor by nuclear and cytoplasmic locations. (P-value=0.13 nuclear, P-value=0.06 cytoplasmic) C. Increased cytoplasmic-to-nuclear Ect2 staining in CRC tumor tissue. The ratio of Ect2 cytoplasmic score over ECT2 nuclear score was compared between tumor and normal, the ratio was significantly higher in the tumor tissues (P-value=0.01) D. Increased cytoplasmic-to-nuclear Ect2 staining correlates with improved CRC patient survival. Kaplan-Meier overall survival curve for the ratio of cytosolic to nuclear Ect2 (P-value=0.001)

*Ect2 promotes CRC anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion.* To address a role for cytoplasmic and nuclear Ect2 in CRC biology, we first determined if Ect2 contributes to the aberrant growth properties of CRC cell lines. Utilizing two previously validated lentivirus-based *ECT2* shRNA vectors [38], we established CRC cell lines with stable suppression of Ect2 protein expression (Figure 3-3A). Suppression of Ect2 expression did not significantly perturb anchorage-dependent cell proliferation (Figure 3-3B) or alter cell cycle progression (Figure 3-3C). However, a significant reduction in anchorageindependent growth as determined by reduced colony formation in soft agar (Figure 3-3D) or invasion through Matrigel (Figure 3-3E) was seen. Thus, similar to lung cancer cells [38], endogenous Ect2 expression functions as a driver of CRC tumor cell growth and invasion independent of its role in regulation of cytokinesis.



#### Figure 3-3 Ect2 is required for CRC cell line anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion

A. Western blot of the indicated CRC cell lines stably-infected with shRNA sequences targeting two different *ECT2* sequences and non-targeting (NS) shRNA negative control. B. An MTT viability assay was used to monitor CRC cell line proliferation. C. Cell cycle analysis was done by DNA-content staining with propidium iodide (PI) of the indicated CRC cell lines. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments. D. Suppression of Ect2 expression reduces CRC cell line anchorage-independent growth. Normalized graph of anchorage-independent growth as a function of Ect2 expression in CRC cell lines (n=3, P-value: \* P<0.05, \*\*P<0.01, \*\*\* P<0.001) E. Suppression of Ect2 expression reduces invasion in vitro. Real-time analyses of invasion (xCELLigence, Roche) of CRC cells through Matrigel. F. Immunofluorescence of endogenous Ect2 in green and actin in phalloidin; scale bars are 20 um

Whereas in a recent analyses in lung cancer found that cytoplasmic Ect2 was important for driving lung cancer growth [38], our IHC analyses found that increased nuclear Ect2 was associated with CRC progression and that cytoplasmic Ect2 may have a protective role. To address a role for nuclear localization in Ect2 support of CRC growth, we generated a set of HA epitope tagged structural/functional mutants of full length Ect2 (Figure 3-4A). We then utilized HT-29 cells to evaluate the structural requirements for Ect2 support of anchorage-independent growth. Suppression of endogenous Ect2 reduced colony formation and ectopic expression of wild type FL Ect2 at levels comparable or higher than endogenous restored colony formation (Figure 3-4B and C). In contrast, expression of a putative catalytic mutant with DH domain missense mutations did not restore colony formation, supporting the RhoGEF function of Ect2 in driving cancer growth. We next evaluated versions of fulllength variants of Ect2 with missense mutation of one (N1 or N2) or both (N3) NLS motifs. In contrast to endogenous Ect2 (Figure 3-2F) or ectopic expression of HA-Ect2 (Figure 3-4D), the NLS mutant proteins showed loss of nuclear staining and instead exhibited strong cytoplasmic staining (Figure 3-4D). In contrast to either ectopic WT or BRCT mutants of Ect2 that rescue colony formation, none of the NLS mutants where able to restore colony formation. These results suggest that the nuclear localization of Ect2 is required to support CRC growth.



#### Figure 3-4 Nuclear Ect2 is required to support anchorage-independent growth

A. Diagram of Ect2 structural mutants showing missense or deletion mutations. B. Western blot of cells with stable shRNA suppression of endogenous Ect2 and ectopic expression of HA epitope-tagged Ect2 mutants in HT-29 cells. C, D. Analysis of CRC anchorage-independent growth. Representative experiment of BRCT and NLS Ect2 mutants (panel C) and then DH, PH and  $\Delta$ C Ect2 mutants (panel D) compared to vector (HA) and WT Ect2 rescue. E. Immunofluorescence of HA-tagged Ect2 mutants in HT-29, where red is anti-HA and green is phalloidin; scale bars are 20 um F. Shown are phase-contrast bright field CRC cells infected with a lentiviral expression vector encoding  $\Delta$ N-Ect2. F. Equivalent activation state of cytoplasmic and nuclear Ect2. Pulldown analyses using the nucleotide-free RhoA mutant that binds preferentially to activated RhoGEFs.



# Figure 3-5 Cytoplasmic Ect2 causes morphologic and growth transformation of NIH 3T3 mouse fibroblasts.

A. Ectopic expression of WT and mutant Ect2 in NIH 3T3 cells. Western blot analysis of NIH 3T3 expressing HA-tagged Ect2 mutants B, C. NLS mutants of Ect2 causes transformation of NIH 3T3 cells. Quantitation of focus forming activity (panel B) with photographs of representative fields of NIH 3T3 cultures (panel C). D. Immunofluorescence of HA epitope-tagged Ect2 mutants in NIH 3T3, where red is anti-HA and green is phalloidin; scale 20 um.

We also assessed the role of other sequences and domains in Ect2-driven CRC growth. We previously found that the C-terminus of Ect2 was essential for the ability of ∆N-Ect2 to transform NIH 3T3 cells and deletion of this C-terminal sequence from FL Ect2 caused a partial reduction in its ability to restore colony formation (Figure 3-4B). We also found previously that mutation of the PH domain did not impair  $\Delta N$ -Ect2 transforming activity and similar mutation of the PH domain did not reproducibly reduce the ability of FL Ect2 to restore colony formation. Thus, in contrast to other RhoGEFs, the PH domain does not appear to be critical for DH domain function. Finally, we also assessed the roles of the BRCT domains. Previous studies found that the BRCT domains can serve as autoinhibitory domains by associating with the DH-PH domains and preventing effective GEF catalytic activity [31]. Additionally, the BRCT domains may interact with phosphorylated proteins and regulate Ect2 recruitment to the central spindling complex during cytokinesis [77, 78]. Missense mutation of the conserved tryptophan (W) residue was shown previously to disrupt the structural integrity and function of the BRCT domain [31]. Interestingly, we found that the single B1 or B2 or tandem B3 BRCT mutant proteins were also mislocalized from the nucleus and showed enhanced cytoplasmic staining (Figure 3-4D). Despite mislocalization and reduced expression of the BRCT domain mutants (B1, B2, & B3), these mutants were still able to rescue colony formation (Figure 3-4C).

Altered subcellular localization from the nucleus to the cytoplasm may alter the intrinsic RhoGEF activity of Ect2 and contribute to the reduced ability of the NLS mutants. We previously described the use of dominant negative

nucleotide-free mutants of Rho GTPases that form nonproductive complex with RhoGEFs, as an affinity reagent to monitor the RhoGEF catalytic activity of cell expressed proteins [110-112]. Using this approach, we first validated that the recombinant GST-RhoA 17A fusion protein preferentially recognized wild type Ect2 relative to the GEF-dead DH domain mutant protein (Figure 3-4D). In contrast, both the N1 and N2 mutants were efficiently precipitated at a level comparable to wild type Ect2. Thus, the mislocalization of the NLS mutants did not impair their intrinsic RhoGEF catalytic function and the reduced colony formation activity may then be due to activation of different subcellular pools of Rho GTPases.

Cytoplasmic localization is associated with Ect2 transformation of NIH 3T3 fibroblasts. Whereas the cytoplasmic, constitutively activated  $\Delta$ N-Ect2 truncated protein exhibits potent transforming activity when assayed in NIH 3T3 fibroblasts, no truncated proteins have been described in human cancers. Thus, we speculated that perhaps  $\Delta$ N-Ect2 may not be effective in supporting CRC growth. For these analyses we established NIH 3T3 cells stably expressing FL Ect2 wild type and mutant proteins (Figure 3-5A). We first verified that under our experimental conditions that  $\Delta$ N-Ect2 is transforming and cytoplasmic mislocalized in NIH 3T3 cells (Figure 3-5B and C). Surprisingly, when we utilized a lentivirus-based cDNA expression vector (puromycin resistant) encoding  $\Delta$ N-Ect2, we failed to isolate puromycin-resistant stable populations of HT-29 cells that ectopically expressed this truncated protein. The cells that arose showed altered cellular morphology, elongated and poorly adherent, suggesting an

induction of apoptosis (Figure 3-4E). However, we were unable to verify the basis for this growth suppression since there was insufficient viable cells to perform a detailed analysis of the mechanism of growth inhibition.

We also evaluated the transforming activity of full length Ect2 structural/functional mutants. The transforming activity of the NLS mutants correlated with Ect2 mislocalization, with N1 and N3 mutants having increased cytosolic Ect2 and focus forming activity compared to N2 (Figure 3-5A and C). Unfortunately, while the BRCT mutants are also mislocalized (Figure 3-5D) to the cytosol these mutants did not express at the same levels of the NLS mutants and therefore the transformation ability is not comparable. However, some foci do arise from the BRCT mutants suggesting that these proteins may have transforming activity.

#### Ect2 support of CRC growth is independent of its role in cytokinesis.

Our finding that shRNA suppression of Ect2 did not reduce CRC anchoragedependent proliferation (Figure 3-2D) suggests that the impaired anchorageindependent growth and invasion was not due simply to a defect in cytokinesis. Consistent with this possibility, our flow cytometry analysis did not find increased that is consistent with impaired cytokinesis (Figure 3-2E). This result contrasts with our previous finding that Ect2 depletion in mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) caused significant accumulation of cells in G2/M. Taken together, these results suggest that Ect2 function in cytokinesis is mechanistically distinct from Ect2 supported cancer growth. To address this question, we assessed the ability of

different Ect2 structural mutants to rescue the loss of endogenous Ect2 to support cytokinesis in MEFs.

In contrast to anchorage independent growth in CRC cells, where the BRCT domains are dispensable for growth, cytokinesis requires intact BRCT domains. (Figure 3-6A and B) The Ect2 BRCT mutants expressed in MEFs also display mislocalization similar to CRC cells and NIH 3T3 fibroblasts (Figure 3-6C). Additionally, the NLS mutants are also mislocalized and cannot rescue cytokinesis (Figure 3-6A-C). As expected, the GEF dead mutant (DH) cannot support cytokinesis Ect2, consistent with the requirement of Ect2 GEF activity for cytokinesis. Surprisingly, the C-terminal truncation and the PH domain missense mutant were able to rescue cytokinesis. Both of these mutants are properly localized to the cells nucleus during interphase and are able to bind dominate negative nucleotide-free RhoA, suggesting other functions of these domains are not necessary for normal function. Finally, we found that ectopic expression of the constitutively activated  $\Delta N$ -Ect2 truncated protein, as we saw with NIH 3T3 cells, was well tolerated by the *Ect2*<sup>fl/fl</sup> MEFs prior to Cre-mediated loss of Ect2. However, this variant did not support cytokinesis, most likely due to the loss of the NLS motifs and its cytosolic localization.



#### Figure 3-6 Nuclear localization is essential for Ect2 to support normal cell cytokinesis in mouse embryo fibroblasts

A. Western blot of MEFs expressing HA-tagged Ect2 mutants. B. NLS and BRCT mutants fail to restore cytokinesis in cells deficient in endogenous Ect2 expression. Representative cell-cycle graphs, by DNA content with propidium iodide of MEFs expressing HA-tagged Ect2 mutants then treated with either empty (control) or Cre (excise endogenous Ect2) adenovirus. C. Immunofluorescence of HA-tagged Ect2 mutants in MEFs, where red is anti-HA and green is phalloidin; scale bar is 20 um.

## Discussion

Conventional chemotherapy with cytotoxic drugs remains the foundation for first-line treatment of metastatic CRC, with limited advances in the development of signal transduction-targeted therapies for this cancer. To identify new molecular determinants for CRC diagnosis and therapy, we performed a microarray study and identified elevated ECT2 gene transcription in primary CRC. Since Ect2 was identified originally as an activated oncogene, we determined if Ect2 protein expression was altered and served a drive role in CRC. In particular, since previous studies in other cancers suggested that mislocalization of the normally nuclear restricted Ect2 into cytoplasm may facilitate aberrant Ect2 function [36, 38], we additionally addressed the role and function of nuclear and cytoplasmic Ect2 in CRC growth. We determined that Ect2 protein levels are altered in both expression levels and subcellular localization in CRC tumors and cell lines and we established a role for Ect2 in CRC cell line growth and invasion in vitro that is distinct from the involvement of Ect2 in cytokinesis. Unexpectedly, our IHC analyses of CRC tumors found that the cytoplasmic to nuclear ratio correlated with better patient survival. Consistent with this observation, we found that nuclear Ect2 is critical for driving CRC growth whereas cytoplasmic Ect2 activation was deleterious for CRC cell viability. Our findings also provide an explanation for why the originally discovered truncated and oncogenic Ect2 variants identified in mouse fibroblast transformation assays have not been found in human cancers.

Our determination that Ect2 is overexpressed in CRC, and that suppression of Ect2 expression impaired CRC cell line growth and invasion in vitro, expand the spectrum of human cancers where Ect2 may serve a driver function. Previously, Ect2 protein overexpression has been described for glioblastoma, lung and esophageal cancer [38, 61-63]. Our identification of ECT2 RNA overexpression by microarray analyses and our Oncomine evaluation of existing microarray databases indicate that the increased levels of Ect2 protein is driven by increased gene transcription. Our Oncomine analyses of existing database information support our suggestion that this is caused by an increase in gene transcription, but not by the gene amplification which the causes Ect2 overexpression in lung cancer [38]. A future direction of our studies will be to identify a mechanism for aberrant ECT2 gene overexpression in CRC. Our finding that Ect2 protein levels were elevated in adenoma tissue from the APC min mouse, together with Oncomine data that also showed increased ECT2 in patient adenoma tissue, argue that ECT2 upregulation likely occurs early in tumor progression.

Ect2 was identified originally as an N-terminally truncated and constitutively activated protein ( $\Delta$ N-Ect2), in the NIH 3T3 focus formation assays that discovered mutationally activated Ras proteins in human cancers [19]. A key basis for the transforming activity of  $\Delta$ N-Ect2 was loss of NLS motifs, rendering the normally nuclear restricted Ect2 mislocalized into the cytoplasm. While no equivalent Ect2 truncation mutants have been described in human cancers, a recent study found that phosphorylation of full length Ect2 may force cytoplasmic

localization that may be critical for a role for Ect2 in driving lung cancer growth. To assess whether a mislocalization mechanism was also important for Ect2 overexpression in CRC, we performed a detailed analysis of nuclear and cytoplasmic Ect2 in a CRC tumor tissue microarray. Although not significant, we observed an increase in Ect2 expression in both nuclear and cytoplasmic compartments compared to normal adjacent tissue. However, surprisingly, our analyses found that the ratio of cytoplasmic to nuclear Ect2 in CRC compared to normal adjacent tissue is statically significant (p<0.001) and an increased ratio correlates with increased overall survival. Our observations suggest that nuclear Ect2 is important for supporting CRC progression and/or growth, whereas cytoplasmic Ect2 may be beneficial for patient survival. This proposal contrasts with a recent study that speculated that cytoplasmic Ect2 was an important driver of lung cancer growth [38], suggesting cancer type differences in Ect2 driven cancer growth. In summary, our results emphasize the importance of assessing both Ect2 subcellular localization as well as overexpression in evaluating an association between aberrant Ect2 expresison and clinicopathologic characteristics.

Since the localization data from our IHC analyses was unexpected, we utilized CRC cell lines that we extablished to be Ect2-dependent for anchorageindependent growth to evaluate a role for nuclear and cytoplasmic Ect2 in CRC growth. We utilized various structure/function Ect2 mutants to address the mechanism of Ect2 function in CRC compared to NIH 3T3 transformation and normal cell cytokinesis. Importantly, our studies are consistence our observation

that cytosolic Ect2 may be beneficial since the cytoplasm mislocalized Ect2 mutants (N1-3) did not support CRC anchorage independent growth (Figure 3-5C). However, BRCT Ect2 mutants were also cytoplasmic mislocalized but still had nuclear Ect2 suggesting that it is nuclear Ect2 that is required for growth. This observation also highlights the importance of the ratio of cytosolic to nuclear Ect2, suggesting that it is the relative proportion of Ect2 in these cellular compartments that determines growth. We also found that the transforming variant of Ect2 (AN-Ect2) cannot support CRC cell growth but instead it was highly deleterious to CRC growth in vitro. Thus, our mechanistic studies are consistent with our findings with CRC patient tumors, and support our hypothesis that cytoplasmic Ect2 is detrimental for cancer growth and also addresses why a constitutively activated truncated protein Ect2 has not been found in cancer. A future question will be to assess mechanisms that cause Ect2 mislocalization to the cytoplasm that may then be exploited pharmacologically to convert Ect2 from an oncogene into a tumor suppressor. Another issue will be determine whether Ect2 activates the same Rho family small GTPases in the cytoplasm and nucleus and whether the effectors activated by these GTPases are distinct.

Similar with observations in lung cancer [38], we demonstrate that loss of Ect2 in CRC cell lines does not cause a defect in cell proliferation, suggesting that the role of Ect2 in cancer is distinct with its role in normal cell cytokinesis. To address this question specifically we used Ect2 structure/function mutants to identify what domains are required for cytokinesis. We found that unlike CRC cell lines, MEFs required intact BRCT domains. Furthermore, the NLS mutants did

not support cytokinesis suggesting that proper localization is also required for Ect2 function in cytokinesis. This result was unexpected, since the nuclear envelope is absent during cytokinesis [24]. Perhaps nuclear sequestion of Ect2 is needed as the nuclear envelop reforms and cells complete cytokinesis and exit from mitosis. As expected, we showed that the GEF-dead Ect2 mutant DH does not support cytokinesis, demonstrating that Rho GTPase regulation is the basis for Ect2 function in cytokinesis. This is consistent with previous studies implication RhoA activation in Ect2-dependent cytokinesis [81]. In contrast, we found that mutation of the PH domain did not impair Ect2 support of cytokinesis, an unexpected finding since the PH domain is typically essential for proper DH domain function for other Dbl family RhoGEFs. Another surprising result was our determination that the C-terminal sequence following the tandem DH-PH domain is also dispensable for cytokinesis. Previously, we showed that this C-terminal sequence was necessary for  $\Delta$ N-Ect2 transformation of NIH 3T3 cells, by dictating RhoGEF specificity in vitro [43]. More recently it was shown that Ect2 protein levels during mitosis was regulated through APC/Cdh1 interaction with the C-teminus [46]. However, our results suggest that while the C-terminus of Ect2 may have functional roles it is not necessary to complete cell cycle. Normal cell cytokinesis is a highly regulated cell program that requires appropriate temporal and spatial signaling. Thus as expected, most of the Ect2 structure/function mutants cannot support proper cytokinesis.

In summary, our studies provide further evidence that Ect2, a protein essential for normal cell cytokinesis, when overexpressed and mislocalized in

cancer, can acquire a driver role in cancer by a mechanism independent of regulation of cytokinesis. Of the more than 70 Dbl family RhoGEFs, Ect2 together with the Vav and P-Rex RhoGEF isoforms comprise a small handful with significant roles in cancer. Of these RhoGEFs, whereas P-Rex and Vav are mainly activators of Rac, Ect2 is primarily an activator of RhoA. Thus, in addition to being only one of two Dbl RhoGEFs with nuclear localization and possessing domains not found on any other RhoGEF, Ect2 may also have an unusual role in human carcinogenesis.

#### Chapter 4 Final thoughts and future directions

# Overview

My dissertation research studies have addressed the roles and mechanisms by which the Ect2 RhoGEF regulates normal cell cytokinesis and tumor cell growth. The key findings from my studies are that (1) Ect2 is essential for development, most likely due to its critical role in normal cell cytokinesis, (2) Ect2 overexpression is a driver of CRC growth, (3) Ect2 may serve distinct nuclear and cytoplasmic functions in CRC growth, and finally, (4) the structural requirements for Ect2 are distinct for growth transformation of mouse fibroblasts and CRC, and for regulation of normal cell cytokinesis. My studies may also provide an explanation for a major paradox in the field, why the potently activated Dbl RhoGEFs identified initially as truncated proteins in NIH 3T3 transformation assays have not been found in human cancers. Below I discuss some key future questions and directions that have been prompted by my findings.

# Determining Nuclear Versus Cytosolic Ect2 Function

The data from our recent structure-function studies of Ect2 in colorectal cancer suggests that nuclear and cytosolic Ect2 have different functions. Furthermore, the function of Ect2 in these individual compartments may be antagonistic and consistent with our TMA data from patients where a higher ratio of cytosolic compared to nuclear Ect2 correlated with increased overall survival.

To further validate our findings that cytosolic Ect2 could be negatively regulating anchorage-independent growth we could use nuclear transporter inhibitors, leptomycin A and/or B, in hopes that these are able to block the ability of Ect2 to become cytosolic. Leptomycin A and B are both potent inhibitors of nuclear export while the exact target of A is unknown B specifically blocks CRM1 (chromosomal region maintenance)/exportin 1 [118-120]. If these inhibitors are able to block cytosolic Ect2 we will investigate anchorage-independent growth in the presence of nuclear transport inhibitors. If nuclear localization is the critical site for Ect2 driven CRC growth, then forced nuclear retention may actually enhance CRC growth. However, there since these inhibitors also block the transport of other proteins there could be significant off-target effects.

The basis for cytoplasmic mislocalization is not clear. One simple explanation may be that mere overexpression saturates nuclear interactions, resulting in cytoplasmic "leakage". One approach to evaluate this will be to use an inducible expression system where the levels of Ect2 expression could be titrated. There are many systems that would be amenable to such manipulation, for example the doxycycline-TET or the cumate inducible system by Systems Bioscience. In our current system, overexpression of WT Ect2 leads to an increase in cytosolic Ect2 and therefore may be the reason for both variable and reduced rescue in soft agar. In an inducible system we should be able to have a range of Ect2 expression such that the WT rescue could have no cytosolic Ect2

up to an expression level where there is additional Ect2 in the cytoplasm allowing us to see the effect of mislocalized Ect2 in anchorage-independent growth.

Another approach to evaluate the role of subcellular localization can be to generate an Ect2 variant that is more strongly nuclear sequestered. To accomplish this, we could tag Ect2 with an additional stronger nuclear localization sequence (NLS) such as the SV40 large T-antigen sequence. However, if the mislocalization of Ect2 to the cytoplasm is dependent on the expression level, it suggests that it is excess of protein that is causing the mislocalization, then it is possible that this approach may not work.

If Ect2 has distinct biological roles in the cytoplasm and nucleus, one logical basis for this is that each pool will activate a spatially distinct pool of RhoA, that then utilizes spatially distinct effectors. The impact of subcellular localization in determining effector utilization is seen in situations where Ras family GTPase subcellular localization is controlled by phosphorylation, leading to interactions with different effectors [6, 80, 121]. Currently there are limited methods that allow one to look at GTPase activity cellular compartments. However, genetically encoded biosensors would allow us investigate protein activity in live cells. Specifically, Dr. Kaus Hahn and colleagues have developed FRET (fluorescent or Förster resonance energy transfer) based biosensors of Rho GTPase [122, 123]. These biosensors allow one to investigate GTPase activity real-time with spatial resolution in live cells, allowing us to determine the location of GTPase activity to better the understand differences between nuclear versus cytosolic Ect2 downstream activity.

Although my pull down analyses with dominant negative RhoA suggests that Ect2 is equally active in the nucleus and cytoplasm, whether this approach accurately measures true catalytic activity is not known. Another possibility would be to design a FRET biosensor for Ect2. While there are no published reports of RhoGEF biosensors we know of groups taking this approach and while having an Ect2 biosensor would be a nice tool it would likely take considerable time to optimize. The ability for a biosensor to work depends on many factors, for instance FRET between fluorescent proteins depends on the relative dipole orientation of each fluoresce protein, for efficient energy exchange the dipoles need to be perpendicular to each other. The distance between the fluorescent proteins need to be less than 10 nm, for FRET to occur, and many biosensors require a linker region between the fluorescent protein and the protein of interest that usually needs to be optimized. Finally, since there is no know structure or models of Ect2 folding, no other RhoGEF biosensors to model from, designing an Ect2 biosensor would probably be time consuming but not impossible to achieve.

Finally, as stated above, it is likely that Ect2 will interact with distinct proteins when in the nucleus and cytoplasm. This is particularly relevant since the BRCT domains can act as protein-protein interaction domains. To address this possibility, we could use a proteomic approach in tandem with a signaling pathway screen to identify nuclear from cytosolic Ect2 function in CRC. We will use mass spectrometry to identify novel binding partners of Ect2 in cytosolic versus nuclear cellular compartments by immunoprecipitating endogenous Ect2 from these compartments. Use of Ect2 domain/deletion mutants can then be

used to map the site of interaction of these proteins. This would not only be the first complete proteomic analysis of Ect2 but also the first step in identifying proteins important in Ect2 function in nuclear or cytosolic compartments. To complement this approach we would do a screen for changes in pathways upon Ect2 induction. There are a variety of techniques or screens we could use to address changes in signaling pathways. We would do RNA sequencing, which provides quantifiable changes in all RNA: non-coding, coding and micro RNA [124]. Another approach we would employ is proteome phospho-arrays by R&D systems where we can look at changes in phosphorylation status of receptor tyrosine kinases (RTK) and other intracellular kinases by western blot. Identifying proteins that interact with Ect2 along with signaling pathways that change upon loss or activation of Ect2 will allow for a more detailed insight into Ect2 function.

#### Inhibitors of Ect2-mediated exchange

Our studies have validated Ect2 as a driver in CRC. However, RhoGEFs are not classically druggable proteins. However, druggabilty is based more on success, and protein kinases were once considered undruggable. There is currently limited evidence that perhaps RhoGEFs are druggable. We propose studies to identify small molecule inhibitors of Ect2, a Rho guanine because its importance in cancer is well validated: we showed Ect2 gene and/or protein overexpression in colon while there are other reports of its importance in lung, brain and pancreatic cancers. We have shown that Ect2 plays a role in tumor cell anchorage-independent growth and Matrigel invasion. If successful, our

establishment of the tractability of Ect2 as a target for inhibitors should support efforts to develop inhibitors against other GEFs involved in cancer.

Our approach is similar to an already validated screen using a fluorescent polarization guanine nucleotide-binding assay [125]. The bases of this screen is GTP binding of Rho GTPases and fluorescent anisotropy. When Rho GTPases are in the inactive form, Rho is bound guanine diphosphate (GDP) but upon the binding of the Dbl homology/pleckstrin homology (DH/PH) domain of a RhoGEF (such as Ect2), a conformational change occurs in the switch regions of Rho, allowing the higher concentrated nucleotide GTP bind to Rho. We will use a fluorescently labeled nonhydrolysable form of the guanine nucleotide, GTPγS [126]. As a result, when Rho is bound to fluorescent GTP the rotation of the nucleotide GTP the rotation of the fluorescent signal is slowed and the polarized light will remain polarized while unbound fluorescent GTP rotates fast and will depolarize the light [127, 128].

Potential mechanisms of inhibition of Ect2 stimulated Rho nucleotide binding, could include allosteric inhibition by drug binding to Rho, allosteric inhibition by drug binding to Ect2, competitive inhibition at the site of interaction between Ect2 and Rho, or finally competitive inhibition nucleotide binding to Rho.

However, in contrast this the previous screen we will use both full-length and dominate active Ect2 protein and screen against activation of RhoA, Rac1, and Cdc42 GTPases since Ect2 has be implicated to active all of these GTPases. We expect some percentage of full-length Ect2 protein to be able to active GTPases based on our pervious pull-down results (Figure 3-4). However, since Ect2 is auto-inhibited [40] we will also screen using the active proportion of the

protein. Furthermore, we may identify unique inhibitors of Rho GTPases, which would allow us to further interrogate the individual pathways in Ect2 function.

To validate any promising hits from the initial high throughput fluorescence-based screen, we will utilize a secondary GEF assay which monitors the incorporation of 3H-GTP into Rho [129]. The advantages of this secondary screen are one, there is no tag on the nucleotide (e.g., BODIPY-TR) that could potentially interfere with inhibitor binding, and two, it does not rely on a fluorescence signal which can sometimes be modulated by the specific chemical properties of the small molecule such as a cyclic structure. Together, the application of both assays will improve our chances to identify molecules that will be effective in our subsequent functional assays.

Next, putative Ect2 inhibitor hits will counterscreen against other RhoGEFs that are selective for RhoA (Larg), Rac1(Tiam1, P-Rex1) and Cdc42 (Asef) by using similar exchange assays. Those inhibitors that are selective for Ect2 but not the other RhoGEFs, will then evaluate in cell-based assays.

We will determine if the Ect2 specific inhibitors can block dominate-active Ect2 driven transformation of NIH3T3 by formation of foci compared to WT Ect2, and Dbl as a positive control. We will test the ability of the Ect2 specific inhibitors to impair anchorage-independent growth of CRC cell lines compared to Ect2 knockdown cells. We will also assess the ability of the inhibitors to block invasion on CRC cell lines through Matrigel. Our longer-term goal will be to develop Ect2 inhibitors for evaluation in mouse models of colon cancer, in particular, in patientderived tumor xenograft models.

## Mechanisms of Ect2-driven motility and invasion

Our previous findings demonstrate that Ect2 has a role CRC cell invasiveness and there is evidence that Rho GTPases regulate different aspects of cell motility in cancer [57]. Additionally, we described a defect in the motility of MEFs upon Cre treatment resulting in the loss of Ect2; these cells exhibit a severe defect in random single cell migration [53]. Pebble, the Drosophila homolog of Ect2, is required for mesoderm migration via activation of RHO1. This activity was independent of the role of Pebble/Ect2 in cytokinesis [130]. Therefore it would be reasonable to investigate Ect2 function in cell motility and cancer cell invasiveness.

To address the mechanism of motility by Ect2 we can start with the analysis of our different Ect2 mutants produced previously (Figure 3-4). Using real-time invasion assays along with single cell motility assays of these Ect2 mutants should elucidate the structural requirements for Ect2 function in motility and/or invasion. We predict that if Ect2 has a direct role in motility it would require its RhoGEF function, however, the location of Ect2 activity and its downstream activity would differ from that of Ect2 in cytokinesis. We predict that the RhoGEF function is critical for the role of Ect2 in motility due to the importance of Rho GTPase signaling in both migration and invasion. The subcellular localization of Ect2 may also play a role in the ability of Ect2 to promote motility. Therefore, the previous analysis of Ect2 function in the nucleus compared to cytosol will also assist in clarifying the mechanism of Ect2 function in motility and invasion.

## Ect2 Mouse Model of Colorectal Cancer

To address the role of Ect2 in a mouse model of colorectal cancer we need to first know if Ect2 is required for intestinal development, crypt formation, and maintenance. We propose crossing our *Ect2*<sup>*fi/fl*</sup> mouse containing a loxP site-flanked Ect2 sequence with a villin-Cre mouse to selectively ablate Ect2 in the entire intestine. The villin-Cre (VC) mouse is a well-characterized model where the promoter from the *villin* gene drives the expression of Cre recombinase in 100% of epithelial cells of the small and large intestines [131]. This would provide the first in vivo evaluation of Ect2 function in differentiated mammalian tissue.

However, we may find that Ect2 is essential for intestinal development or maintenance of colonic tissue causing an inability to use the VC model to determine if Ect2 has a role in a mouse model of CRC. To overcome this potential limitation, we can use the VC-ERT mouse strain, which encodes an estrogen receptor-Cre fusion protein and therefore expresses a tamoxifen inducible form of villin-Cre [132]. In this model, no deletion of Ect2 would occur until the VC-ERT; Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> adult mice are treated by intraperitoneal injection of tamoxifen.

Next we will use either the VC/Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> or VC-ERT/Ect2<sup>fl/fl</sup> mouse to cross with the with the APCmin/+ mouse to determine if Ect2 loss impairs colon tumorigenesis. The APCmin/+ mouse carries a truncation mutation at codon 850 of the *APC* gene that causes multiple intestinal neoplasia (Min), typically resulting in ~30 polyps in the small intestine per animal [133, 134]. This mouse model has been useful to identify proteins and mechanisms involved in colorectal cancer

tumorigenesis [73]. Additionally, our preliminary analyses found that Ect2 is overexpressed in adenomas from this model (Figure 3-1), indicating that it will be an ideal model for our studies investigating Ect2 in colorectal cancer.

# References

- 1. Malumbres M, Barbacid M: **RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years**. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2003, **3**(6):459-465.
- 2. Bourne HR, Sanders DA, McCormick F: The GTPase superfamily: conserved structure and molecular mechanism. *Nature* 1991, 349(6305):117-127.
- 3. Rojas AM, Fuentes G, Rausell A, Valencia A: **The Ras protein superfamily: evolutionary tree and role of conserved amino acids**. *J Cell Biol* 2012, **196**(2):189-201.
- 4. Biou V, Cherfils J: Structural principles for the multispecificity of small GTP-binding proteins. *Biochemistry* 2004, **43**(22):6833-6840.
- 5. Bishop AL, Hall A: **Rho GTPases and their effector proteins**. *Biochem J* 2000, **348 Pt 2**:241-255.
- 6. Jaffe AB, Hall A: **Rho GTPases: biochemistry and biology**. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 2005, **21**:247-269.
- 7. Bernards A, Settleman J: **GAP control: regulating the regulators of small GTPases**. *Trends Cell Biol* 2004, **14**(7):377-385.
- 8. Garcia-Mata R, Boulter E, Burridge K: **The 'invisible hand': regulation of RHO GTPases by RHOGDIs**. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2011, **12**(8):493-504.
- 9. Vigil D, Cherfils J, Rossman KL, Der CJ: **Ras superfamily GEFs and GAPs: validated and tractable targets for cancer therapy?** *Nat Rev Cancer* 2010, **10**(12):842-857.
- 10. Eva A, Aaronson SA: Isolation of a new human oncogene from a diffuse B-cell lymphoma. *Nature* 1985, **316**(6025):273-275.
- 11. Hart MJ, Eva A, Evans T, Aaronson SA, Cerione RA: Catalysis of guanine nucleotide exchange on the CDC42Hs protein by the dbl oncogene product. *Nature* 1991, **354**(6351):311-314.

- 12. Rossman KL, Der CJ, Sondek J: **GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors**. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2005, **6**(2):167-180.
- 13. Cote JF, Vuori K: Identification of an evolutionarily conserved superfamily of DOCK180-related proteins with guanine nucleotide exchange activity. *J Cell Sci* 2002, **115**(Pt 24):4901-4913.
- 14. Yang Z, Watson JC: Molecular cloning and characterization of rho, a ras-related small GTP-binding protein from the garden pea. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1993, **90**(18):8732-8736.
- 15. Wu G, Li H, Yang Z: Arabidopsis RopGAPs are a novel family of rho GTPase-activating proteins that require the Cdc42/Rac-interactive binding motif for rop-specific GTPase stimulation. *Plant Physiol* 2000, 124(4):1625-1636.
- 16. Berken A, Thomas C, Wittinghofer A: **A new family of RhoGEFs** activates the Rop molecular switch in plants. *Nature* 2005, **436**(7054):1176-1180.
- 17. Bulgin R, Raymond B, Garnett JA, Frankel G, Crepin VF, Berger CN, Arbeloa A: Bacterial guanine nucleotide exchange factors SopE-like and WxxxE effectors. *Infect Immun* 2010, **78**(4):1417-1425.
- 18. Orchard RC, Alto NM: **Mimicking GEFs: a common theme for bacterial pathogens**. *Cell Microbiol* 2012, **14**(1):10-18.
- Miki T, Smith CL, Long JE, Eva A, Fleming TP: Oncogene ect2 is related to regulators of small GTP-binding proteins. *Nature* 1993, 362(6419):462-465.
- 20. Eggert US, Mitchison TJ, Field CM: **Animal cytokinesis: from parts list to mechanisms**. *Annu Rev Biochem* 2006, **75**:543-566.
- 21. Barr FA, Gruneberg U: **Cytokinesis: placing and making the final cut**. *Cell* 2007, **131**(5):847-860.
- 22. Birkenfeld J, Nalbant P, Bohl BP, Pertz O, Hahn KM, Bokoch GM: **GEF-H1 modulates localized RhoA activation during cytokinesis under the control of mitotic kinases**. *Dev Cell* 2007, **12**(5):699-712.
- 23. Nishimura Y, Yonemura S: Centralspindlin regulates ECT2 and RhoA accumulation at the equatorial cortex during cytokinesis. *J Cell Sci* 2006, **119**(Pt 1):104-114.

- 24. Chalamalasetty RB, Hummer S, Nigg EA, Sillje HH: **Influence of human Ect2 depletion and overexpression on cleavage furrow formation and abscission**. *J Cell Sci* 2006, **119**(Pt 14):3008-3019.
- 25. Zhao WM, Fang G: MgcRacGAP controls the assembly of the contractile ring and the initiation of cytokinesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2005, **102**(37):13158-13163.
- 26. Yuce O, Piekny A, Glotzer M: An ECT2-centralspindlin complex regulates the localization and function of RhoA. *J Cell Biol* 2005, 170(4):571-582.
- 27. Hime G, Saint R: **Zygotic expression of the pebble locus is required for cytokinesis during the postblastoderm mitoses of Drosophila**. *Development* 1992, **114**(1):165-171.
- 28. Lehner CF: **The pebble gene is required for cytokinesis in Drosophila**. *J Cell Sci* 1992, **103 ( Pt 4)**:1021-1030.
- 29. Prokopenko SN, Brumby A, O'Keefe L, Prior L, He Y, Saint R, Bellen HJ: A putative exchange factor for Rho1 GTPase is required for initiation of cytokinesis in Drosophila. *Genes Dev* 1999, **13**(17):2301-2314.
- 30. Dechant R, Glotzer M: Centrosome separation and central spindle assembly act in redundant pathways that regulate microtubule density and trigger cleavage furrow formation. *Dev Cell* 2003, 4(3):333-344.
- 31. Kim JE, Billadeau DD, Chen J: The tandem BRCT domains of Ect2 are required for both negative and positive regulation of Ect2 in cytokinesis. *J Biol Chem* 2005, **280**(7):5733-5739.
- 32. Tatsumoto T, Xie X, Blumenthal R, Okamoto I, Miki T: Human ECT2 is an exchange factor for Rho GTPases, phosphorylated in G2/M phases, and involved in cytokinesis. *J Cell Biol* 1999, **147**(5):921-928.
- 33. Melendez J, Stengel K, Zhou X, Chauhan BK, Debidda M, Andreassen P, Lang RA, Zheng Y: RhoA GTPase is dispensable for actomyosin regulation but is essential for mitosis in primary mouse embryonic fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 2011, 286(17):15132-15137.
- 34. Hirose K, Kawashima T, Iwamoto I, Nosaka T, Kitamura T: MgcRacGAP is involved in cytokinesis through associating with mitotic spindle and midbody. *J Biol Chem* 2001, **276**(8):5821-5828.
- 35. Woods NT, Mesquita RD, Sweet M, Carvalho MA, Li X, Liu Y, Nguyen H, Thomas CE, Iversen ES, Jr., Marsillac S *et al*: **Charting the landscape of tandem BRCT domain-mediated protein interactions**. *Science Signaling* 2012, **5**(242):rs6.
- 36. Saito Sai, Liu X-F, Kamijo K, Raziuddin R, Tatsumoto T, Okamoto I, Chen X, Lee C-C, Lorenzi MV, Ohara N *et al*: Deregulation and mislocalization of the cytokinesis regulator ECT2 activate the Rho signaling pathways leading to malignant transformation. *J Biol Chem* 2004, 279(8):7169-7179.
- Mesquita RD, Woods NT, Seabra-Junior ES, Monteiro AN: Tandem BRCT domains: DNA's Praetorian Guard. Genes Cancer 2010, 1(11):1140-1146.
- 38. Justilien V, Fields AP: Ect2 links the PKCiota-Par6alpha complex to Rac1 activation and cellular transformation. *Oncogene* 2009, 28(41):3597-3607
- 39. Kimura K, Tsuji T, Takada Y, Miki T, Narumiya S: Accumulation of GTPbound RhoA during cytokinesis and a critical role of ECT2 in this accumulation. *J Biol Chem* 2000, **275**(23):17233-17236.
- 40. Kim JE: The Tandem BRCT Domains of Ect2 Are Required for Both Negative and Positive Regulation of Ect2 in Cytokinesis. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* 2004, **280**(7):5733-5739.
- 41. Yoshizaki H, Ohba Y, Parrini MC, Dulyaninova NG, Bresnick AR, Mochizuki N, Matsuda M: Cell type-specific regulation of RhoA activity during cytokinesis. *J Biol Chem* 2004, **279**(43):44756-44762.
- 42. Burkard ME, Randall CL, Larochelle S, Zhang C, Shokat KM, Fisher RP, Jallepalli PV: Chemical genetics reveals the requirement for Polo-like kinase 1 activity in positioning RhoA and triggering cytokinesis in human cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007, **104**(11):4383-4388.
- 43. Solski PA, Wilder RS, Rossman KL, Sondek J, Cox AD, Campbell SL, Der CJ: Requirement for C-terminal sequences in regulation of Ect2 guanine nucleotide exchange specificity and transformation. *J Biol Chem* 2004, **279**(24):25226-25233.
- 44. Chrencik JE, Brooun A, Zhang H, Mathews, II, Hura GL, Foster SA, Perry JJ, Streiff M, Ramage P, Widmer H *et al*: **Structural basis of guanine nucleotide exchange mediated by the T-cell essential Vav1**. *J Mol Biol* 2008, **380**(5):828-843.

- 45. Peters JM: The anaphase-promoting complex: proteolysis in mitosis and beyond. *Mol Cell* 2002, **9**(5):931-943.
- 46. Liot C, Seguin L, Siret A, Crouin C, Schmidt S, Bertoglio J: **APC(cdh1)** mediates degradation of the oncogenic Rho-GEF Ect2 after mitosis. *PLoS ONE* 2011, **6**(8):e23676.
- 47. Glotzer M, Murray AW, Kirschner MW: Cyclin is degraded by the ubiquitin pathway. *Nature* 1991, **349**(6305):132-138.
- 48. Jin L, Williamson A, Banerjee S, Philipp I, Rape M: Mechanism of ubiquitin-chain formation by the human anaphase-promoting complex. *Cell* 2008, **133**(4):653-665.
- 49. Vega FM, Ridley AJ: SnapShot: Rho family GTPases. *Cell* 2007, **129**(7):1430.
- 50. Wang DZ, Hammond VE, Abud HE, Bertoncello I, McAvoy JW, Bowtell DD: Mutation in Sos1 dominantly enhances a weak allele of the EGFR, demonstrating a requirement for Sos1 in EGFR signaling and development. *Genes Dev* 1997, **11**(3):309-320.
- O'Brien SP, Seipel K, Medley QG, Bronson R, Segal R, Streuli M: Skeletal muscle deformity and neuronal disorder in Trio exchange factor-deficient mouse embryos. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2000, 97(22):12074-12078.
- 52. Mayers CM, Wadell J, McLean K, Venere M, Malik M, Shibata T, Driggers PH, Kino T, Guo XC, Koide H *et al*: **The Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor AKAP13 (BRX) is essential for cardiac development in mice**. *J Biol Chem* 2010, **285**(16):12344-12354.
- 53. Cook DR, Solski PA, Bultman SJ, Kauselmann G, Schoor M, Kuehn R, Friedman LS, Cowley DO, Van Dyke T, Yeh JJ *et al*: **The ect2 rho Guanine nucleotide exchange factor is essential for early mouse development and normal cell cytokinesis and migration**. *Genes Cancer* 2011, **2**(10):932-942.
- 54. Van de Putte T, Zwijsen A, Lonnoy O, Rybin V, Cozijnsen M, Francis A, Baekelandt V, Kozak CA, Zerial M, Huylebroeck D: Mice with a homozygous gene trap vector insertion in mgcRacGAP die during pre-implantation development. *Mech Dev* 2001, **102**(1-2):33-44.
- 55. Hodis E, Watson IR, Kryukov GV, Arold ST, Imielinski M, Theurillat JP, Nickerson E, Auclair D, Li L, Place C *et al*: **A landscape of driver mutations in melanoma**. *Cell* 2012, **150**(2):251-263.

- 56. Krauthammer M, Kong Y, Ha BH, Evans P, Bacchiocchi A, McCusker JP, Cheng E, Davis MJ, Goh G, Choi M *et al*: **Exome sequencing identifies recurrent somatic RAC1 mutations in melanoma**. *Nat Genet* 2012, **44**(9):1006-1014.
- 57. Sahai E, Marshall CJ: **RHO–GTPASES AND CANCER**. *Nature Publishing Group* 2002, **2**(2):133-142.
- 58. Jordan P, Brazao R, Boavida MG, Gespach C, Chastre E: Cloning of a novel human Rac1b splice variant with increased expression in colorectal tumors. *Oncogene* 1999, **18**(48):6835-6839.
- 59. Eva A, Vecchio G, Diamond M, Tronick SR, Ron D, Cooper GM, Aaronson SA: Independently activated dbl oncogenes exhibit similar yet distinct structural alterations. *Oncogene* 1987, **1**(4):355-360.
- Roversi G, Pfundt R, Moroni RF, Magnani I, van Reijmersdal S, Pollo B, Straatman H, Larizza L, Schoenmakers EF: Identification of novel genomic markers related to progression to glioblastoma through genomic profiling of 25 primary glioma cell lines. Oncogene 2006, 25(10):1571-1583.
- 61. Sano M, Genkai N, Yajima N, Tsuchiya N, Homma J, Tanaka R, Miki T, Yamanaka R: **Expression level of ECT2 proto-oncogene correlates** with prognosis in glioma patients. *Oncol Rep* 2006, **16**(5):1093-1098.
- 62. Salhia B, Tran NL, Chan A, Wolf A, Nakada M, Rutka F, Ennis M, McDonough WS, Berens ME, Symons M *et al*: **The guanine nucleotide exchange factors trio, Ect2, and Vav3 mediate the invasive behavior of glioblastoma**. *Am J Pathol* 2008, **173**(6):1828-1838.
- 63. Hirata D, Yamabuki T, Miki D, Ito T, Tsuchiya E, Fujita M, Hosokawa M, Chayama K, Nakamura Y, Daigo Y: **Involvement of epithelial cell transforming sequence-2 oncoantigen in lung and esophageal cancer progression**. *Clin Cancer Res* 2009, **15**(1):256-266.
- Iyoda M, Kasamatsu A, Ishigami T, Nakashima D, Endo-Sakamoto Y, Ogawara K, Shiiba M, Tanzawa H, Uzawa K: Epithelial cell transforming sequence 2 in human oral cancer. *PLoS ONE* 2010, 5(11):e14082.
- 65. Fields AP, Justilien V: The guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) Ect2 is an oncogene in human cancer. *Adv Enzyme Regul* 2010, 50(1):190-200.

- 66. Jung Y, Lee S, Choi HS, Kim SN, Lee E, Shin Y, Seo J, Kim B, Kim WK, Chun HK *et al*: **Clinical validation of colorectal cancer biomarkers identified from bioinformatics analysis of public expression data**. *Clin Cancer Res* 2011, **17**(4):700-709.
- 67. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A: **Cancer statistics, 2013**. *CA Cancer J Clin* 2013, **63**(1):11-30.
- 68. SEER Cancer Statistics Review, 1975-2009 (Vintage 2009 Populations)
- 69. Fearon ER: **Molecular genetics of colorectal cancer**. *Annu Rev Pathol* 2011, **6**:479-507.
- 70. Fearon ER, Vogelstein B: A genetic model for colorectal tumorigenesis. *Cell* 1990, 61(5):759-767.
- 71. Rodrigues NR, Rowan A, Smith ME, Kerr IB, Bodmer WF, Gannon JV, Lane DP: **p53 mutations in colorectal cancer**. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1990, **87**(19):7555-7559.
- 72. Fearnhead NS, Wilding JL, Bodmer WF: Genetics of colorectal cancer: hereditary aspects and overview of colorectal tumorigenesis. *Br Med Bull* 2002, 64:27-43.
- 73. Fodde R, Smits R, Clevers H: **APC**, signal transduction and genetic instability in colorectal cancer. *Nat Rev Cancer* 2001, **1**(1):55-67.
- 74. Bos JL, Rehmann H, Wittinghofer A: **GEFs and GAPs: critical elements** in the control of small G proteins. *Cell* 2007, **129**(5):865-877.
- 75. Lamarche N, Hall A: **GAPs for rho-related GTPases**. *Trends Genet* 1994, **10**(12):436-440.
- 76. Mohammad DH, Yaffe MB: **14-3-3 proteins, FHA domains and BRCT domains in the DNA damage response**. *DNA Repair (Amst)* 2009, **8**(9):1009-1017.
- 77. Wolfe BA, Takaki T, Petronczki M, Glotzer M: Polo-like kinase 1 directs assembly of the HsCyk-4 RhoGAP/Ect2 RhoGEF complex to initiate cleavage furrow formation. *PLoS Biol* 2009, **7**(5):e1000110.
- 78. Burkard ME, Maciejowski J, Rodriguez-Bravo V, Repka M, Lowery DM, Clauser KR, Zhang C, Shokat KM, Carr SA, Yaffe MB *et al*: **Plk1 self-organization and priming phosphorylation of HsCYK-4 at the spindle midzone regulate the onset of division in human cells**. *PLoS Biol* 2009, **7**(5):e1000111.

- 79. Schmidt A, Hall A: The Rho exchange factor Net1 is regulated by nuclear sequestration. *J Biol Chem* 2002, **277**(17):14581-14588.
- 80. Dubash AD, Guilluy C, Srougi MC, Boulter E, Burridge K, Garcia-Mata R: The small GTPase RhoA localizes to the nucleus and is activated by Net1 and DNA damage signals. *PLoS ONE* 2011, 6(2):e17380.
- 81. Li J, Wang J, Jiao H, Liao J, Xu X: Cytokinesis and cancer: Polo loves ROCK'n' Rho(A). J Genet Genomics 2010, 37(3):159-172.
- Hara T, Abe M, Inoue H, Yu LR, Veenstra TD, Kang YH, Lee KS, Miki T: Cytokinesis regulator ECT2 changes its conformation through phosphorylation at Thr-341 in G2/M phase. Oncogene 2006, 25(4):566-578.
- 83. Oceguera-Yanez F, Kimura K, Yasuda S, Higashida C, Kitamura T, Hiraoka Y, Haraguchi T, Narumiya S: Ect2 and MgcRacGAP regulate the activation and function of Cdc42 in mitosis. *J Cell Biol* 2005, 168(2):221-232.
- 84. Lois C, Hong EJ, Pease S, Brown EJ, Baltimore D: Germline transmission and tissue-specific expression of transgenes delivered by lentiviral vectors. *Science* 2002, **295**(5556):868-872.
- 85. Morgenstern JP, Land H: Advanced mammalian gene transfer: high titre retroviral vectors with multiple drug selection markers and a complementary helper-free packaging cell line. *Nucleic Acids Res* 1990, **18**(12):3587-3596.
- 86. Spindle AI, Pedersen RA: Hatching, attachment, and outgrowth of mouse blastocysts in vitro: fixed nitrogen requirements. *J Exp Zool* 1973, **186**(3):305-318.
- 87. Lin R, Bagrodia S, Cerione R, Manor D: A novel Cdc42Hs mutant induces cellular transformation. *Current biology : CB* 1997, 7(10):794-797.
- Morita K, Hirono K, Han M: The Caenorhabditis elegans ect-2 RhoGEF gene regulates cytokinesis and migration of epidermal P cells. *EMBO Rep* 2005, 6(12):1163-1168.
- 89. Kanada M, Nagasaki A, Uyeda TQ: Novel functions of Ect2 in polar lamellipodia formation and polarity maintenance during "contractile ring-independent" cytokinesis in adherent cells. *Mol Biol Cell* 2008, **19**(1):8-16.

- 90. Kamijo K, Ohara N, Abe M, Uchimura T, Hosoya H, Lee JS, Miki T: Dissecting the role of Rho-mediated signaling in contractile ring formation. *Mol Biol Cell* 2006, **17**(1):43-55.
- 91. Elbaz J, Reizel Y, Nevo N, Galiani D, Dekel N: Epithelial cell transforming protein 2 (ECT2) depletion blocks polar body extrusion and generates mouse oocytes containing two metaphase II spindles. *Endocrinology* 2010, **151**(2):755-765.
- 92. Qian X, Esteban L, Vass WC, Upadhyaya C, Papageorge AG, Yienger K, Ward JM, Lowy DR, Santos E: **The Sos1 and Sos2 Ras-specific exchange factors: differences in placental expression and signaling properties**. *Embo J* 2000, **19**(4):642-654.
- 93. van Impel A, Schumacher S, Draga M, Herz HM, Grosshans J, Muller HA: Regulation of the Rac GTPase pathway by the multifunctional Rho GEF Pebble is essential for mesoderm migration in the Drosophila gastrula. *Development* 2009, **136**(5):813-822.
- 94. Vega FM, Ridley AJ: **Rho GTPases in cancer cell biology**. *FEBS Letters* 2008, **582**(14):2093-2101.
- 95. Mardilovich K, Olson MF, Baugh M: **Targeting Rho GTPase signaling** for cancer therapy. *Future Oncol* 2012, **8**(2):165-177.
- 96. Lambert JM, Lambert QT, Reuther GW, Malliri A, Siderovski DP, Sondek J, Collard JG, Der CJ: **Tiam1 mediates Ras activation of Rac by a PI(3)K-independent mechanism**. *Nat Cell Biol* 2002, **4**(8):621-625.
- 97. Malliri A, van der Kammen RA, Clark K, van der Valk M, Michiels F, Collard JG: Mice deficient in the Rac activator Tiam1 are resistant to Ras-induced skin tumours. *Nature* 2002, **417**(6891):867-871.
- 98. Kissil JL, Walmsley MJ, Hanlon L, Haigis KM, Bender Kim CF, Sweet-Cordero A, Eckman MS, Tuveson DA, Capobianco AJ, Tybulewicz VL *et al*: Requirement for Rac1 in a K-ras induced lung cancer in the mouse. *Cancer Research* 2007, 67(17):8089-8094.
- 99. Heid I, Lubeseder-Martellato C, Sipos B, Mazur PK, Lesina M, Schmid RM, Siveke JT: Early requirement of Rac1 in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. *Gastroenterology* 2011, **141**(2):719-730, 730 e711-717.
- 100. Lindsay CR, Lawn S, Campbell AD, Faller WJ, Rambow F, Mort RL, Timpson P, Li A, Cammareri P, Ridgway RA *et al*: **P-Rex1 is required for**

efficient melanoblast migration and melanoma metastasis. *Nat Commun* 2011, **2**:555.

- Berger MF, Hodis E, Heffernan TP, Deribe YL, Lawrence MS, Protopopov A, Ivanova E, Watson IR, Nickerson E, Ghosh P *et al*: Melanoma genome sequencing reveals frequent PREX2 mutations. *Nature* 2012, 485(7399):502-506.
- 102. Katzav S, Martin-Zanca D, Barbacid M: vav, a novel human oncogene derived from a locus ubiquitously expressed in hematopoietic cells. *Embo J* 1989, **8**(8):2283.
- 103. Ayanian JZ, Chrischilles EA, Fletcher RH, Fouad MN, Harrington DP, Kahn KL, Kiefe CI, Lipscomb J, Malin JL, Potosky AL *et al*: Understanding cancer treatment and outcomes: the Cancer Care Outcomes Research and Surveillance Consortium. J Clin Oncol 2004, 22(15):2992-2996.
- 104. Laurinaviciene A, Dasevicius D, Ostapenko V, Jarmalaite S, Lazutka J, Laurinavicius A: Membrane connectivity estimated by digital image analysis of HER2 immunohistochemistry is concordant with visual scoring and fluorescence in situ hybridization results: algorithm evaluation on breast cancer tissue microarrays. *Diagn Pathol* 2011, 6:87.
- 105. Chabot-Richards DS, Martin DR, Myers OB, Czuchlewski DR, Hunt KE: Quantitative image analysis in the assessment of diffuse large B-cell lymphoma. *Mod Pathol* 2011, **24**(12):1598-1605.
- 106. Rexhepaj E, Brennan DJ, Holloway P, Kay EW, McCann AH, Landberg G, Duffy MJ, Jirstrom K, Gallagher WM: Novel image analysis approach for quantifying expression of nuclear proteins assessed by immunohistochemistry: application to measurement of oestrogen and progesterone receptor levels in breast cancer. Breast Cancer Res 2008, **10**(5):R89.
- 107. Atienza JM, Yu N, Kirstein SL, Xi B, Wang X, Xu X, Abassi YA: Dynamic and label-free cell-based assays using the real-time cell electronic sensing system. Assay Drug Dev Technol 2006, 4(5):597-607.
- 108. Eisenberg MC, Kim Y, Li R, Ackerman WE, Kniss DA, Friedman A: Mechanistic modeling of the effects of myoferlin on tumor cell invasion. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2011, **108**(50):20078-20083.
- 109. Cox AD, Der CJ: Biological assays for cellular transformation. *Methods Enzymol* 1994, **238**:277-294.

- 110. Wennerberg K, Ellerbroek SM, Liu RY, Karnoub AE, Burridge K, Der CJ: RhoG signals in parallel with Rac1 and Cdc42. *J Biol Chem* 2002, 277(49):47810-47817.
- 111. Arthur WT, Ellerbroek SM, Der CJ, Burridge K, Wennerberg K: **XPLN**, a guanine nucleotide exchange factor for RhoA and RhoB, but not RhoC. *J Biol Chem* 2002, **277**(45):42964-42972.
- 112. Reuther GW, Lambert QT, Booden MA, Wennerberg K, Becknell B, Marcucci G, Sondek J, Caligiuri MA, Der CJ: Leukemia-associated Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor, a Dbl family protein found mutated in leukemia, causes transformation by activation of RhoA. *J Biol Chem* 2001, **276**(29):27145-27151.
- 113. Ki DH, Jeung HC, Park CH, Kang SH, Lee GY, Lee WS, Kim NK, Chung HC, Rha SY: Whole genome analysis for liver metastasis gene signatures in colorectal cancer. *Int J Cancer* 2007, **121**(9):2005-2012.
- 114. Kaiser S, Park YK, Franklin JL, Halberg RB, Yu M, Jessen WJ, Freudenberg J, Chen X, Haigis K, Jegga AG *et al*: **Transcriptional recapitulation and subversion of embryonic colon development by mouse colon tumor models and human colon cancer**. *Genome Biol* 2007, **8**(7):R131.
- 115. Sabates-Bellver J, Van der Flier LG, de Palo M, Cattaneo E, Maake C, Rehrauer H, Laczko E, Kurowski MA, Bujnicki JM, Menigatti M *et al*: Transcriptome profile of human colorectal adenomas. *Mol Cancer Res* 2007, 5(12):1263-1275.
- 116. Skrzypczak M, Goryca K, Rubel T, Paziewska A, Mikula M, Jarosz D, Pachlewski J, Oledzki J, Ostrowski J: Modeling oncogenic signaling in colon tumors by multidirectional analyses of microarray data directed for maximization of analytical reliability. *PLoS ONE* 2010, 5(10).
- 117. Hong Y, Downey T, Eu KW, Koh PK, Cheah PY: A 'metastasis-prone' signature for early-stage mismatch-repair proficient sporadic colorectal cancer patients and its implications for possible therapeutics. *Clin Exp Metastasis* 2010, **27**(2):83-90.
- 118. Hamamoto T, Seto H, Beppu T: Leptomycins A and B, new antifungal antibiotics. II. Structure elucidation. *J Antibiot (Tokyo)* 1983, **36**(6):646-650.
- 119. Kudo N, Wolff B, Sekimoto T, Schreiner EP, Yoneda Y, Yanagida M, Horinouchi S, Yoshida M: Leptomycin B inhibition of signal-mediated

nuclear export by direct binding to CRM1. *Exp Cell Res* 1998, 242(2):540-547.

- 120. Buschbeck M, Ullrich A: The unique C-terminal tail of the mitogenactivated protein kinase ERK5 regulates its activation and nuclear shuttling. *J Biol Chem* 2005, **280**(4):2659-2667.
- 121. Wennerberg K, Rossman KL, Der CJ: **The Ras superfamily at a glance**. *J Cell Sci* 2005, **118**(Pt 5):843-846.
- 122. Machacek M, Hodgson L, Welch C, Elliott H, Pertz O, Nalbant P, Abell A, Johnson GL, Hahn KM, Danuser G: **Coordination of Rho GTPase** activities during cell protrusion. *Nature* 2009, **461**(7260):99-103.
- Welch CM, Elliott H, Danuser G, Hahn KM: Imaging the coordination of multiple signalling activities in living cells. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 2011, 12(11):749-756.
- 124. Wang Z, Gerstein M, Snyder M: **RNA-Seq: a revolutionary tool for** transcriptomics. *Nat Rev Genet* 2009, **10**(1):57-63.
- 125. Evelyn CR, Ferng T, Rojas RJ, Larsen MJ, Sondek J, Neubig RR: Highthroughput screening for small-molecule inhibitors of LARGstimulated RhoA nucleotide binding via a novel fluorescence polarization assay. *J Biomol Screen* 2009, **14**(2):161-172.
- 126. McEwen DP, Gee KR, Kang HC, Neubig RR: Fluorescent BODIPY-GTP analogs: real-time measurement of nucleotide binding to G proteins. Anal Biochem 2001, 291(1):109-117.
- 127. Burke TJ, Loniello KR, Beebe JA, Ervin KM: **Development and** application of fluorescence polarization assays in drug discovery. *Comb Chem High Throughput Screen* 2003, **6**(3):183-194.
- 128. Owicki JC: Fluorescence polarization and anisotropy in high throughput screening: perspectives and primer. *J Biomol Screen* 2000, **5**(5):297-306.
- 129. Abe K, Rossman KL, Liu B, Ritola KD, Chiang D, Campbell SL, Burridge K, Der CJ: Vav2 is an activator of Cdc42, Rac1, and RhoA. *J Biol Chem* 2000, **275**(14):10141-10149.
- 130. Schumacher S, Gryzik T, Tannebaum S, Muller HA: The RhoGEF Pebble is required for cell shape changes during cell migration triggered by the Drosophila FGF receptor Heartless. Development 2004, 131(11):2631-2640.

- 131. Madison BB, Dunbar L, Qiao XT, Braunstein K, Braunstein E, Gumucio DL: Cis elements of the villin gene control expression in restricted domains of the vertical (crypt) and horizontal (duodenum, cecum) axes of the intestine. *J Biol Chem* 2002, **277**(36):33275-33283.
- 132. el Marjou F, Janssen KP, Chang BH, Li M, Hindie V, Chan L, Louvard D, Chambon P, Metzger D, Robine S: Tissue-specific and inducible Cremediated recombination in the gut epithelium. *Genesis* 2004, 39(3):186-193.
- 133. Moser AR, Pitot HC, Dove WF: A dominant mutation that predisposes to multiple intestinal neoplasia in the mouse. *Science* 1990, **247**(4940):322-324.
- 134. Taketo MM, Edelmann W: **Mouse models of colon cancer**. *Gastroenterology* 2009, **136**(3):780-798.